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CITY OF GAINESVILLE, FLORIDA  

Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 
 
 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

 

This Summary of Significant Accounting Policies is presented to assist the reader in interpreting the financial 

statements.  The policies are considered essential and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 

financial statements. 

 

The accounting policies of the City of Gainesville, Florida (the City) conform to generally accepted accounting 

principles (GAAP) as applicable to governmental units.  This report, the accounting systems and classification of 

accounts conform to standards of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB).   

 

Gainesville Regional Utilities (GRU or the Utility) is a combined municipal utility system operating electric, water, 

wastewater, natural gas and telecommunications utilities.  GRU is a utility enterprise of the City and is reported as 

an enterprise fund of the City.  GRU is required to follow the provisions in the Second Amended and Restated 

Utilities System Revenue Bond Resolution (the Resolution) adopted by the City on September 21, 2017.  GRU’s 

electric and gas accounts are maintained substantially in accordance with the Uniform System of Accounts of the 

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC), as required by the Resolution, and in conformity with accounting 

principles generally accepted in the United States of America using the accrual basis of accounting, including the 

application of regulatory accounting as described in Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 

No. 62 - Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB 

and AICPA Pronouncements.  

 

GRU prepares its financial statements in accordance with GASB Statement No. 62, paragraphs 476-500, Regulated 

Operations, and records various regulatory assets and liabilities.  For a government to report under GASB Statement 

No. 62, its rates must be designed to recover its costs of providing services, and the utility must be able to collect those 

rates from customers.  If it were determined, whether due to regulatory action or competition, that these standards no 

longer applied, GRU could be required to expense its regulatory assets and liabilities.  Management believes that GRU 

currently meets the criteria for continued application of GASB Statement No. 62, but will continue to evaluate 

significant changes in the regulatory and competitive environment to assess continuing applicability of the criteria. 

 

The Resolution specifies the flow of funds from revenues and the requirements for the use of certain restricted and 

unrestricted assets.  Under the Resolution, rates are designed to cover operation and maintenance expenses, rate 

stabilization, debt service requirements, utility plant improvement fund contributions, and for any other lawful 

purpose.  The flow of funds excludes depreciation expense and certain other non-cash revenue and expense items.  

This method of rate setting results in costs being included in the determination of rates in different periods than 

when these costs are recognized for financial statement purposes.  The effects of these differences are recognized in 

the determination of operating income in the period that they occur, in accordance with GRU’s accounting policies. 

 

(A) Reporting Entity  

 

The City is a Florida municipality established by the Laws of Florida, Section 12760, pursuant to the authority provided 

in Chapter 165, Florida Statutes, and is governed by an elected seven member Commission.  It provides most of the 

traditional municipal services to its citizens including police and fire protection, community development, streets, 

recreation, parks, cultural affairs, and other general government activities.  It also operates transit, stormwater, golf 

course, building code enforcement, solid waste, water, wastewater, natural gas distribution, telecommunications and 

electric utility enterprises.   

 

As required by generally accepted accounting principles, the accompanying financial statements present the City as a 

primary government and its component units, entities for which the City is considered financially accountable.  The 

component units are included in the reporting entity because of the significance of their operational relationship with 

the primary government.  A primary government is financially accountable for the organizations that make up its legal 

entity.  It is also financially accountable for legally separate organizations if its officials appoint a voting majority of the 

organization’s governing body and either it is able to impose its will on that organization or there is a potential for the 

organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or to impose specific financial burdens on, the primary 

government.  The primary government may also be financially accountable for governmental organizations that are 

fiscally dependent on it.  
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (Continued) 

 

(A) Reporting Entity  (Concluded) 

 

Blended Component Unit - A legally separate entity, the Community Redevelopment Agency (CRA) was created 

by ordinance of the City to carry out community redevelopment within the City of Gainesville under Chapter 163 of 

the Florida Statutes.  The City Commission sits as the board of this organization and approves its budget.  The CRA 

is reported as if it were a part of the City because the City Commission is its governing body and because of the 

existence of a financial benefit/burden relationship.  The CRA’s operating fund and four Tax Increment District 

project funds are reported as separate non-major governmental funds.  This organization has a September 30 year-

end.  Separate financial statements of the CRA are prepared and are available by contacting the City at PO Box 490, 

MS 14, Gainesville, Florida 32627. 

  

Discretely Presented Component Unit - The Gainesville Enterprise Zone Development Agency (GEZDA) was 

created by ordinance of the City to carry out community redevelopment within the City of Gainesville under 

Chapter 163 of the Florida Statutes.  The City Commission appoints the board of this organization and approves its 

budget.  This organization has a September 30 year-end.  Separate financial statements of this agency are not 

prepared.  

 

The following entities are not included in the accompanying financial statements: 

 

Gainesville Housing Authority (GHA)⸻GHA is a public housing authority (dependent special district) created under 

Section 421.04 of the Florida Statutes.  The GHA is considered a related organization because the City is 

responsible for appointing a voting majority of GHA’s board members.  The City is not financially accountable for 

the GHA. 

 

Gainesville-Alachua County Regional Airport Authority (GACRAA)⸻GACRAA is an independent special district 

created for the purpose of providing airport services for citizens of Gainesville and Alachua County, Florida and 

surrounding areas.  GACRAA is considered a related organization because the City is responsible for appointing a 

voting majority of GACRAA’s board members.  The City is not financially accountable for GACRAA. 

 

The only joint venture in which the City participated in fiscal year 2018 was Gainesville Regional Utilities’ 

investment in The Energy Authority, which is described in Note 15. 

 

(B) Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 

 

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of activities) report 

information on all of the non-fiduciary activities of the primary government and its component units.  For the most 

part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements.  However, interfund services provided 

and used are not eliminated in the process of consolidation.  Governmental activities, which are normally supported 

by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a 

significant extent on fees and charges for services.  Likewise, the primary government is reported separately from 

the legally separate component units for which the primary government is financially accountable. 

  

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or segment are 

offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or 

segment.  Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit 

from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are 

restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment.  Taxes or other 

items not properly included among program revenues are reported as general revenues.   
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (Continued) 

 

(B) Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements (Concluded) 

 

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds, even 

though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements.  Major individual governmental funds 

and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. 

 

Governmental Funds are those through which most governmental functions of the City are financed.  The 

acquisition, use and balances of the City’s expendable financial resources and the related liabilities (except 

those accounted for in proprietary or fiduciary funds) are accounted for through governmental funds.  The 

following are the City’s governmental fund types: 

 ■ General Fund 

 ■ Special Revenue Funds 

 ■ Debt Service Funds 

 ■ Capital Projects Funds 
 

Proprietary Funds are used to account for the City’s ongoing activities which are similar to those often 

found in the private business sector.  The following are the City’s proprietary fund types: 

■ Enterprise Funds 

■ Internal Service Funds 
 

Fiduciary Funds are used to account for assets held by the City in a trustee capacity or as an agent for 

individuals, private organizations, other governmental units and/or other funds.  The City’s fiduciary fund 

type includes: 

■ Pension and Other Post-Employment Benefit (OPEB) Trust Funds 

 

(C) Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 

 

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the 

accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary funds and pension and OPEB trust funds within the fiduciary fund 

financial statements.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, 

regardless of the timing of the related cash flows. 

 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and 

the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized in the accounting period in which they become 

measurable and available to finance expenditures of the fiscal period.  Measurable refers to the ability to quantify in 

monetary terms the amount of the revenue and receivable.  Available means collectible in the current period or soon 

enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities at the balance sheet date.  For this purpose, the City considers revenues 

to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period.  Property taxes are 

recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied.  Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as 

soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met.  Transfers are recognized in the 

accounting period in which the interfund receivable and payable arise.  Expenditures are recognized in the 

accounting period in which the related fund liability is incurred, if measurable, except for unmatured principal and 

interest on long-term debt. 

 

Material revenues in the following categories are considered susceptible to accrual because they are both measurable 

and available to finance expenditures of the current period: 

 Ad Valorem Taxes  Intergovernmental Revenue 

 Sales and Franchise Taxes  Interest Earned 

 

Interest and investment income earnings are recognized when earned and allocated monthly based on each fund’s 

equity in the pool. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (Continued) 
 

(C) Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation (Concluded) 
 
The following governmental fund revenues are not considered susceptible to accrual because they are not both 

measurable and available to finance expenditures of the current period: 

 Fees Licenses and Permits 

 Miscellaneous Charges Rents and Concessions 
 

The City reports one major governmental fund: 

 The General Fund is the City’s primary operating fund.  It accounts for all resources traditionally 

 associated with governments except those accounted for in another fund. 
 
The City reports one major proprietary fund: 

The Utility Fund accounts for the activities of the City’s electric generation, transmission and distribution 

operations, as well as its water, wastewater, natural gas transmission, and telecommunications operations. 
 

Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods, services, or privileges 

provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and contributions.  Internally dedicated resources 

are reported as general revenues rather than as program revenues.  Likewise, general revenues include all taxes. 
 

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items.  Operating revenues and 

expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a 

proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations.  The principal operating revenues of the City’s enterprise funds are 

charges to customers for sales and services.  The principal operating revenues for the City’s internal service funds 

related to general insurance and fleet management are charges to other funds for sales and services.  For the internal 

service fund related to health insurance, the principal operating revenues are employer and employee contributions.  

Operating expenses for enterprise funds and internal service funds include the cost of sales and service, 

administrative expenses, depreciation on capital assets, and benefits paid.  All revenues and expenses not meeting 

this definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses.   
 

The City uses internal service funds for fleet acquisition and maintenance as well as self-insurance for health 

insurance and general liability insurance. 
 

For purposes of measuring the net pension and other post-employment benefits (OPEB) liabilities, deferred outflows 

of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions and OPEB, and pension and OPEB expense, 

information about the fiduciary net position of the General Employees’ Pension Plan, the Consolidated Police 

Officers’ and Firefighters’ Retirement Plan, and the OPEB Plan, and additions to/deductions from fiduciary net 

position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported in the related separately issued plan 

statements.  For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when 

due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.  Investments are reported at fair value.   
 

(D) Receivables 
 
Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the 

fiscal year are referred to as either “due to/from other funds” (i.e., the current portion of the interfund loans) or 

“advances to/from other funds” (i.e., the non-current portion of interfund loans).  Any residual balances outstanding 

between the governmental activities and business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial 

statements as “internal balances.” 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (Continued) 
 

(D) Receivables (Concluded) 
 

Advances between funds, as reported in the fund financial statements, are classified as non-spendable fund balance 

in applicable governmental funds to indicate that they are not available for appropriation and are not expendable 

available financial resources.  For the most part, receivables and the related revenues are recognized when 

determined and billed - either for services rendered, grant entitlements, or reimbursements due, or otherwise 

measurable and available.  Utilities service receivables are recorded at year-end for services rendered but unbilled.  

They are calculated by prorating cycle billings subsequent to September 30, 2018, according to the number of days 

applicable to the current fiscal year. 

 

(E) Inventories 
 

The City accounts for its General Fund supply inventory at cost, (FIFO) using the “consumption method”.  Other 

supply inventories are stated at cost using the weighted average unit cost method.  Inventories held for resale are 

reported at the lower of cost or market.  Obsolete and unusable materials and supplies are expensed.  Fuel stocks in 

the electric system, which are stated using the weighted average unit cost method, are recorded as inventory when 

purchased.  The cost of fuel used for electric generation is charged to expense as consumed. 

 

(F) Capital Assets 
 

Capital assets, which include property, utility plant, general plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, 

sidewalks, and similar items) are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in the 

government-wide financial statements.  Capital assets, other than those recorded in the Utility fund, are defined by the 

City as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $2,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of one year.  

Utility fund general plant capital assets are defined as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $2,500 and a 

useful life in excess of more than one year.  The Utility fund has no capital threshold for utility plant assets.  
 

All capital assets are valued at historical cost or estimated historical cost if actual historical cost is not available.  

Donated capital assets are valued at their estimated acquisition value on the date donated.  The costs of capital assets 

include material, labor, vehicle and equipment usage, related overhead items, capitalized interest, and certain 

administrative and general expenses.  The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of 

the asset or materially extend asset lives are not capitalized. 
 

Property, plant, and equipment of the primary government is depreciated using the straight line method over the 

following estimated useful lives: 
 

 Buildings  20 to 50 Years 

 Improvement Other than Buildings  20 to 30 Years 

 Infrastructure – Roads, Curb, and Gutter  50 Years 

 Infrastructure – Roads, Non-Curb, and Gutter  25 Years 

 Infrastructure – Sidewalks  50 Years 

 Infrastructure – Bike Paths  25 Years 

 Equipment  5 to 20 Years 

 Stormwater System  50 Years 

 Streetscape  25 Years 
 

Depreciation of utility plant is computed using the straight-line method over estimated service lives ranging from 2 

to 86 years.  The overall depreciation rate was 3.24% for the period ending September 30, 2018. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (Continued) 

 

(F) Capital Assets (Concluded) 
 

The City has elected to report infrastructure acquired prior to October 1, 1979, in addition to complying with the 

requirement to report infrastructure acquired subsequent to that date. 
 

Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed.  An allowance for 

interest on borrowed funds used during construction of $1.7 million for the year ended September 30, 2018, was 

included in construction in progress and as a reduction of interest expense.  These amounts are computed by 

applying the effective interest rate on the funds borrowed to finance the projects to the monthly balance of projects 

under construction.  The effective interest rate was approximately 3.8% for fiscal year 2018. 
 

When units of depreciable property are retired, the original cost and removal cost, less salvage, are charged to 

accumulated depreciation. 
 

(G) Long-Term Obligations 
 

In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund financial statements, long-term debt and other 

long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-type activities, or 

proprietary fund statements of net position.  Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the life 

of the bonds.  Losses resulting from the refunding of bonds are deferred and amortized over the remaining life of the 

old debt or the life of the new debt, whichever is shorter.   

 

Historically, in the government-wide and proprietary fund statements, the City accounted for debt issuance costs as 

assets and amortized them over the life of the related debt.  Pursuant to GASB Statement No. 65, Items Previously 

Reported as Assets and Liabilities, the City was required to expense these costs in the year in which the costs were 

incurred and to restate beginning balances in 2014 to reflect the retroactive application of this statement.  GRU 

elected to follow GASB Statement No. 62, paragraphs 476-500, Regulated Operations, and established a regulatory 

asset for the debt issuance costs that otherwise would have been expensed.  

 

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as bond 

issuance costs, during the current period.  The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources.  

Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt issuances are 

reported as other financing uses.  Issuance costs are reported as debt service expenditures except as noted above.   
 

(H) Futures and Options Contracts, Derivatives and Deferred Charges/Credits 
 

GRU conducts a risk management program with the intent of reducing the impact of fuel price increases for its 

customers.  The program utilizes futures and options contracts that are traded on the New York Mercantile 

Exchange (NYMEX) so that prices may be fixed or reduced for given volumes of gas that the utility projects to 

consume during a given production month.  This program is based on feedback and direction from GRU’s Risk 

Oversight Committee, consultation and recommendations from reputable risk management sources, and close 

monitoring of the market. 
 

(I ) Deferred Outflows of Resources 
 

A deferred outflow of resources represents a consumption of net assets that applies to a future period and will not be 

recognized as an outflow of resources until that future time.  
 

Unamortized loss on refunding of bonds 

Losses on refunding of bonds have been deferred.  These amounts are being amortized over the life of the old debt 

or the life of the new debt, whichever is shorter. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (Continued) 

 

(I) Deferred Outflows of Resources (Concluded) 

 

Accumulated decrease in fair value of hedging derivatives 

GRU has two types of hedging instruments: interest rate swap agreements and natural gas hedges.  Each is 

associated with an item that is eligible to be hedged.  For effective hedging transactions, hedge accounting is applied 

and fair market value changes are recorded on the statement of net position as either a deferred inflow of resources 

or a deferred outflow of resources until such time that the transaction ends. 

 

Pension and OPEB related 

Increases in the net pension and OPEB liability resulting from changes of assumptions, differences between 

projected and actual earnings on plan investments, and differences between expected and actual experience with 

regard to economic or demographic factors in the measurement of total pension and OPEB liability are reported as 

deferred outflows of resources, to be recognized as an increase in expense as disclosed in Note 5 – Retirement Plans 

and Note 6 – Other Postemployment Benefits Plan.  

 

(J) Deferred Inflows of Resources 

 

A deferred inflow of resources represents an acquisition of net assets that applies to a future period and, therefore, 

will not be recognized as an inflow of resources until that future time. 

 

Rate stabilization 

GRU designs its rates to recover costs of providing services.  In order to stabilize future rate increases or decreases, 

GRU determines a rate stabilization amount to be charged or credited to revenues on an annual basis.  These 

amounts are reflected as increases or decreases in deferred inflows. 

 

Business taxes not yet earned 

Business taxes are due to the City on October 1 for the fiscal year beginning that day.  Payments received prior to 

that date are recorded as a deferred inflow of resources. 

 

Pension and OPEB related 

Decreases in the net pension and OPEB liability resulting from changes of assumptions, differences between 

projected and actual earnings on plan investments, and differences between expected and actual experience with 

regard to economic or demographic factors in the measurement of total pension and OPEB liability are reported as 

deferred inflows of resources, to be recognized as a decrease in expense as disclosed in Note 5 – Retirement Plans 

and Note 6 – Other Postemployment Benefits Plan. 

 

(K) Contributions in Aid of Construction  

 

Capital contributions to the electric and gas systems are recognized as revenues and subsequently expensed in the 

same period for capital contributions that will not be recovered in rates in accordance with GASB Statement No. 62 

– Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and 

AICPA Pronouncements.   

 

Capital contributions to the water, wastewater, and GRUCom systems, as well as to other proprietary funds of the 

City, are recognized as revenues in the periods received.  Depreciation on these assets is recorded on a straight-line 

basis over the estimated lives of the assets.   
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (Continued) 

 

(L) Hedging Derivative Instruments 

 

GRU records fuel and financial related derivative instruments in accordance with GASB Statement No. 53, 

Accounting and Reporting for Financial and Derivative Instruments.  All effective derivative instruments are 

recorded as either an asset or liability measured at fair market value.  All ineffective derivative instruments are 

recorded as a regulatory asset.   

 

Changes in the fair value of the hedging derivative instruments during the year are recorded as either deferred 

outflows or deferred inflows and are recognized in the period in which the derivative is settled.  The settlement of 

fuel and financial related hedging derivative instruments are included as a part of fuel costs and interest expense, 

respectively, in the Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position and the Statement of 

Activities.   

 

(M) Compensated Absences 

 

The City’s policy is to allow limited vesting of employee vacation and sick pay.  The limitation of vacation time is 

governed by the period of employment and is determinable.  Unused sick leave may be added to an employee’s length 

of service at the time of retirement for the purpose of computing retirement benefits or, in some cases, received 

partially in cash upon election at retirement.  The resulting liability is not determinable in advance, however.  All 

vacation pay and applicable sick leave pay is accrued when incurred in the government-wide and proprietary fund 

financial statements.  For governmental activities, these liabilities are generally liquidated by the general fund. 

 

(N) Risk Management 

 

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets, errors and 

omissions, injuries to employees, and natural disasters.  The City maintains a General Insurance Fund (an Internal 

Service Fund) to account for some of its uninsured risk of loss.  Under the current program, the City is self-insured 

for workers’ compensation, auto, and general liability.  Third-party coverage is currently maintained for workers’ 

compensation claims in excess of $350,000.  Settlements have not exceeded insurance coverage for each of the last 

three years.  Liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of the loss can be 

reasonably estimated.  Liabilities include an amount for claims that have been incurred but not reported (IBNRs), 

and are shown at current dollar value. 

 

All funds other than the Utility Fund participate in the general insurance program.  Risk management/insurance 

related activities of the Utility Fund are accounted for within the Utility Fund.  The Utility Fund purchases plant and 

machinery insurance from a commercial carrier.  There have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage 

from that in the prior year and settlements have not exceeded insurance coverage for the past three fiscal years.  In 

addition, an actuarially computed liability of $3,337,000 is recorded in the Utility Fund as a fully amortized deferred 

credit.  The present value calculation assumes a rate of return of 4.5% with a confidence level of 75%.  All claims 

for fiscal year 2018 were paid from current year’s revenues.   

 

Changes in the Utility Fund’s claims liability for the last two years are as follows:   

 

   Beginning         End  

   of Fiscal         of Fiscal 

   Year         Year 

     Liability    Incurred    Payments   Liability   

 2017-2018 $ 3,337,000 $ 1,729,406 $ (1,729,406) $ 3,337,000 

 2016-2017  3,337,000  2,253,000  (2,253,000)  3,337,000 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (Continued) 

 

(N) Risk Management (Concluded) 

 

There is a claims liability of $6,854,000 included in the General Insurance Fund as the result of actuarial estimates.   

 

Changes in the General Insurance Fund’s claims liability were: 

 

   Beginning         End  

   of Fiscal         of Fiscal 

   Year         Year 

     Liability    Incurred    Payments   Liability   

 2017-2018 $ 6,854,000 $ 3,861,445 $ (3,861,445) $ 6,854,000 

 2016-2017  6,854,000  2,466,244  (2,466,244)  6,854,000 

  

The City is also self-insured for its Employee Health and Accident Benefit Plan (the Plan).  The Plan is accounted 

for in an Internal Service Fund and is externally administered, for an annually contracted amount that is based upon 

the volume of claims processed.  Contributions for City employees and their dependents are shared by the City and 

the employee.  Administrative fees are paid primarily out of this fund.  Stop-loss insurance is maintained for this 

program at $300,000 per individual.  No claims have exceeded insurance coverage in the last three years.   

 

Changes in claims liability for the last three years are as follows: 

 

   Beginning         End  

   of Fiscal         of Fiscal 

   Year         Year 

     Liability    Incurred    Payments   Liability   

 2017-2018 $ 1,310,671 $ 23,412,606 $ (23,412,606) $ 1,310,671 

 2016-2017  1,310,671  21,883,325  (21,883,325)  1,310,671 

  

These claims liability amounts are all considered to be due within one year and are classified as current liabilities in 

the accompanying financial statements.   

 

(O) Interfund Activity  

 

During the course of normal operations, the City has various non-reciprocal interfund activities.  Following is a 

summary of the accounting treatment applied to such interfund transactions: 

 

Reimbursement Transactions⸻Reimbursements from one fund to another are recorded as expenditures or expenses 

in the reimbursing fund and as reductions of expenditures or expenses in the fund that is reimbursed. 

 

Transfers⸻Interfund transfers affect the results of operations in the affected funds.  An example is the payment to 

the General Fund from the Utility Fund. 

 

(P) Property Taxes 

 

Ad valorem property tax revenue is recognized as revenue in the fiscal year for which taxes are levied, measurable 

and available.  Only property taxes collected within 60 days after year-end are recognized as revenue.  The total 

millage levy is assessed at 4.7474 mills per $1,000.  Taxes are levied and collected according to Florida State 

Statutes under the following calendar: 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (Continued) 

 

(P) Property Taxes (Concluded) 
 
   Lien Date January 1 

   Levy Date October 1 

   Due Date November 1 

   Delinquency Date April 1 

 

The Alachua County Tax Collector (the Tax Collector) bills and collects ad valorem taxes for the City.  State Statutes 

provide for tax discounts for installment prepayments or full payments before certain dates.  Installment prepayment 

dates and discounts of each installment (one-fourth of estimated taxes) are: June 30 - 6%, September 30 - 4.5%, 

December 31 - 3% and March 31 - 0%.  Full payment dates and discounts are: November 30 - 4%, December 31 - 3%, 

January 31 - 2%, February 28 - 1% and March 31 - 0%.  The Tax Collector remits current taxes collected to the City 

several times a month during the first two months of the collection period.  Thereafter, remittances are made to the City 

on a monthly basis. 

 

(Q) Revenue Recognition  
 

Revenue is recorded as earned.  GRU accrues for services rendered but unbilled, which amounted to approximately 

$16,427,280 for fiscal year 2018.   

 

Fuel and purchased gas adjustment levelization revenue is recognized as fuel and fuel related expenses are incurred.  

Amounts charged to customers for fuel are based on estimated costs.  GRU establishes this fuel and purchased gas 

adjustment charge based on ordinances approved by the City Commission.  If the amount recovered through billings 

exceeds actual fuel expenses, GRU records the excess billings as a liability.  If the amount recovered through 

billings is less than actual fuel expenses, GRU records the excess fuel expense as a reduction of the liability or as an 

asset.  A fuel and purchased gas adjustment levelization account is utilized to stabilize the monthly impact of the 

fuel and purchased gas adjustment charge included in customer billings. 

 

The following table represents total revenues and expenses associated with the fuel and purchased gas adjustment 

and the subsequent impact on the fuel and purchased gas levelization balance as of September 30, 2018: 

 

 
 

(R) Budgetary Information  
 

The City has elected to report budgetary comparisons as required supplementary information (RSI).  Please refer to 

the accompanying notes to the RSI for the City’s budgetary information.  
 

(S) Statement of Cash Flows 
 
For purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash equivalents are defined as all liquid investments with an original 

maturity of three months or less.  These include cash on hand, bank demand accounts, and overnight repurchase 

agreements.  

Fuel Purchased Gas

Adjustment Adjustment Total

Revenues 102,559,336$           6,916,481$               109,475,817$           

Expenses (99,281,397)              (7,842,044)                (107,123,441)            

To (from) Levelization Account 3,277,939                 (925,563)                   2,352,376                 

Levelization Account Beginning Balance (5,588,054)                858,737                    (4,729,317)                

To (from) Levelization Account 3,277,939                 (925,563)                   2,352,376                 

Levelization Account Ending Balance (2,310,115)$              (66,826)$                   (2,376,941)$              



41 

CITY OF GAINESVILLE, FLORIDA  

Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 
 

 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (Continued) 

 

(T) Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 

States requires management to make estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of 

revenue and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.  

 

(U) Rates and Regulation  
 
GRU is regulated by the Gainesville City Commission (the City Commission) and GRU’s rates are established in 

accordance with the Resolution.  Each year during the budget process, and at any other time deemed necessary, the 

City Commission approves base rate changes and other changes to GRU’s system charges as applicable. 

 

The Florida Public Service Commission (PSC) does not regulate rate levels in any of GRU’s utility systems.  They 

do, however, have jurisdiction over the rate structure for the electric system. 

 

(V) Fund Balance/Net Position 
 
Fund Balance 

Governmental funds report fund balance in classifications based primarily on the extent to which the City is bound 

to honor constraints on the specific purposes for which amounts in the fund can be spent.  Fund balances for 

governmental funds are comprised of the following: 

 

■ Non-Spendable⸻includes amounts that are (a) not in spendable form, or (b) legally or contractually required to 

be maintained intact.  The “not in spendable form” criterion includes items that are not expected to be converted 

to cash, for example: inventories, prepaid amounts and long-term note receivables. 

■ Restricted⸻includes amounts that can be spent only for the specific purposes stipulated by external resource 

providers, constitutionally or through enabling legislation.  Restrictions may effectively be changed or lifted 

only with the consent of the resource provider. 

■ Committed⸻includes amounts that can only be used for the specific purposes determined by a formal action of 

the City’s highest level of decision-making authority.  Formal actions include ordinances (for more permanent 

regulations) and resolutions (for shorter term actions) approved by the City Commission.  Ordinances require 

two readings for approval and therefore are technically considered the most binding.  This formal action must 

occur prior to the end of the reporting period, but the amount of the commitment may be determined in the 

subsequent period. 

■ Assigned⸻comprised of amounts intended to be used by the City for specific purposes that are neither 

restricted nor committed.  Intent is expressed by a body (for example a budget or finance committee) or official 

to whom the City’s Commission has delegated the authority to assign amounts to be used for specific purposes.  

The City Commission has delegated such authority to the City Manager. 

■ Unassigned⸻is the residual classification for the General Fund and includes all amounts not contained in the 

other classifications.  Unassigned amounts are technically available for any purpose.  Unassigned Fund Balance 

also includes the negative fund balance of Special Revenue Funds due to expenditures incurred exceeding the 

amounts restricted, committed and assigned. 

 

Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders and other commitments for expenditures are recorded in 

order to reserve that amount of the applicable appropriation, is employed in the governmental funds. Encumbrances 

are not the equivalent of expenditures.  Encumbrances are reported as restricted, committed, or assigned fund 

balance at year-end, depending on the level of constraint, and are reappropriated the following year. 

 

 



42 

CITY OF GAINESVILLE, FLORIDA  

Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 
 

 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (Continued) 

 

(V) Fund Balance/Net Position (Concluded) 

 

In circumstances when an expenditure is made for a purpose for which amounts are available in multiple fund 

balance classifications, fund balance is generally depleted in the order of restricted, committed, assigned and 

unassigned. 

 

Restricted Net Position 

In the accompanying government-wide and proprietary funds’ statements of net position, restricted net position is 

subject to restrictions beyond the City’s control.  The restriction is either externally imposed (for instance, by 

creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws and regulations of other governments) or is imposed by law through 

constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

 

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City’s policy to use restricted 

resources first, and then unrestricted resources as they are needed.  

 

Reserve Policy  

The City Commission adopted a General Fund Reserve Policy to ensure the general government’s orderly provision 

of services to its citizens, availability of adequate working capital, plan for contingencies, and retain the City’s good 

standing with the rating agencies and the credit markets. 

 

For each fiscal year, the unassigned fund balance of the general fund will be at least 10% of the proposed general fund 

revenue budget (excluding one-time appropriations from fund balance).  This balance is to provide for the following: 

 

■ Budget fluctuations 

■ Unanticipated emergencies (e.g. natural disasters, public safety emergencies, capital emergencies, etc.) 

■ Any other financial uncertainties 

 

The general fund unassigned fund balance will not be used to solve recurring revenue shortfalls. 
 

The portion of the general fund unassigned fund balance that exceeds the minimum required level may be 

appropriated as needed and expended.  No amount of the minimum required level of the general fund unassigned 

fund balance may be expended unless it meets the purposes stated above and until appropriated by the City 

Commission, except as provided below for unanticipated emergencies.  
 

In those unanticipated emergency situations which demand immediate government action in the interest of public 

safety and welfare, the City Manager is authorized by the City Commission to spend up to a maximum of 20% of 

the minimum required level of the general fund unassigned fund balance in accordance with procedures provided in 

the City’s purchasing policies.  A financial accounting related to such emergency expenditures will be submitted to 

the City Commission by the City Manager as expeditiously as possible after the end of the emergency. 
 

Upon completion of the audited financial statements, the Finance Director will review the final year-end results.  If 

the general fund unassigned fund balance falls below the required minimum level, the shortfall, if less than five 

percent, will be budgeted in its entirety in the succeeding budget year. 
 

In the case of an event that creates a differential between the required general fund unassigned fund balance amount 

and current available funds of equal to, or more than five percent, a funding plan will be developed to meet the 

requirements of the General Fund Reserve Policy within three years of the event. 

 

At least every five years, a review of this reserve policy will be completed by the City Manager or designee, and 

recommendations for changes, if appropriate, will be submitted to the City Commission.   
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (Concluded) 

 

(W) New Accounting Pronouncements 
 
The City implemented GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting Postemployment Benefits 

Other Than Pensions, which replaces GASB Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers 

for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, as amended.  This statement addresses accounting and financial 

reporting for postemployment benefits other than pensions (OPEB) provided to employees of state and local 

government employers. Additional information is included in Note 6—Other Postemployment Benefits Plan and 

Note 20—Restatements. 

 

NOTE 2 – FUND BALANCE CLASSIFICATION AND RESTRICTED NET POSITION  

 

Fund balances for major and non-major governmental funds as of September 30, 2018 are classified as follows:  

 

 
 

Non-Major

General Governmental

Fund Funds Totals

Non-Spendable

Inventory 51,479$                        -$                        51,479$                   

Long-Term Receivable 1,596,337                     -                          1,596,337                

Cemetery Trust -                                    973,501               973,501                   

1,647,816                     973,501               2,621,317                

Restricted for

Cemetery Trust -                                    643,948               643,948                   

Community Redevelopment -                                    12,229,983          12,229,983              

Depot Avenue Project -                                    466,539               466,539                   

Fire Programs -                                    18,219                 18,219                     

Information Technologies -                                    4,739,507            4,739,507                

Homeless Assistance -                                    430,386               430,386                   

Housing and Community Development -                                    1,508,001            1,508,001                

Land Acquisitions -                                    218,458               218,458                   

Police Mentoring Programs -                                    302,056               302,056                   

Police Programs -                                    1,097,834            1,097,834                

Police Programs -                                    1,096,300            1,096,300                

Recreation Facilities -                                    10,481,864          10,481,864              

Recreation Programs -                                    314,680               314,680                   

Road Improvements -                                    11,400,263          11,400,263              

Transportation Improvements -                                    4,043,528            4,043,528                

-                                    48,991,566          48,991,566              

Committed for

Cultural Events -                                    127,370               127,370                   

Economic Development -                                    412,661               412,661                   

Homeless Assistance -                                    682,182               682,182                   

Housing and Community Development -                                    101,201               101,201                   

Neighborhood Improvements -                                    833,777               833,777                   

Tree Mitigation -                                    2,127,559            2,127,559                

-                                    4,284,750            4,284,750                
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NOTE 2 – FUND BALANCE CLASSIFICATION AND RESTRICTED NET POSITION  (Concluded) 

 

 
 

Encumbrances for major and non-major governmental funds as of September 30, 2018, are classified as follows: 

 

 

Restricted Net Position 

The government-wide statement of net position reports $77,518,971 of restricted net position, of which $29,124,965 

is restricted by enabling legislation. 

 

Non-Major

General Governmental

Fund Funds Totals

Assigned for

City Building Improvements -$                                  1,579,023$          1,579,023$              

Debt Service Principal and Interest -                                    1,068,796            1,068,796                

Depot Avenue Project -                                    144,756               144,756                   

Economic Development -                                    511,157               511,157                   

Fire Station -                                    742,392               742,392                   

Homeless Assistance -                                    821,615               821,615                   

Information Technologies -                                    3,384,492            3,384,492                

Land Acquisitions -                                    827,500               827,500                   

Neighborhood Improvements -                                    121,330               121,330                   

Other Purposes -                                    440,653               440,653                   

Police Equipment -                                    1,377,738            1,377,738                

Recreation Programs -                                    730,523               730,523                   

Road Improvements -                                    2,050,590            2,050,590                

Streetscapes -                                    8,165                   8,165                       

Traffic Signals -                                    120,601               120,601                   

-                                    13,929,331          13,929,331              

Unassigned 17,023,490                   (1,613,819)          15,409,671              

Total 18,671,306$                 66,565,329$        85,236,635$            

Non-Major

General Governmental

Fund Funds Totals

Community Redevelopment -$                                  12,000$               12,000$                   

Employee Benefits -                                    205,385               205,385                   

Fire Equipment 4,975                            30,058                 35,033                     

Gas, Oil and Grease -                                    52,667                 52,667                     

Neighborhood Improvements -                                    7,414                   7,414                       

Professional Services-Other -                                    13,169                 13,169                     

Recreation Programs 20,000                          -                          20,000                     

Roadway Improvements -                                    29,361                 29,361                     

24,975$                        350,054$             375,029$                 
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NOTE 3 – DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS  
 

Deposits and Investments 
 

Deposits and investments as of September 30, 2018, are classified in the accompanying financial statements as 

follows:  
 

 
Deposits and investments as of September 30, 2018, consist of the following:  

 

 
Investment Policies 
 

The City’s total deposits and investments are comprised of three major components, each with its own set of legal 

and contractual provisions as described below. 
 

Defined Benefit Pension Investments 

These funds represent investments administered by the City’s Defined Benefit Pension Fund Investment Managers.  

They comprise $664,650,352 of the City’s total fair value of investments, and are exclusive of the $21,978,808 held 

in cash by the Trustees.   
 

These investments are reported at fair value, which is derived through valuation efforts done by the City’s investment 

managers in conjunction with the plan custodian.  The fair values for the vast majority of these assets are readily 

available.  For those assets whose fair value is less verifiable, the best available information is used.   

Statement of Net Position

Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,540,167$             

Equity in Pooled Cash and Investments 140,589,624           

Investments 1,590,759               

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents 175,964,755           

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

Cash and Cash Equivalents 18,061,954             

Equity in Pooled Cash and Investments 5,836,993               

Investments:

Equities 508,024,161           

Limited Partnerships 33,823,943             

Real Estate 6,985,614               

Mutual Funds 146,618,959           

Government Bonds 19,166,634             

Corporate Bonds 6,198,396               

Mortgage and Asset Backed Securities 9,419,465               

Total Cash and Investments 1,073,821,424$      

Defined Benefit Pension:

Deposits with Financial Institutions 21,978,808$           

Investments 664,650,352           

Other Postemployment Benefit (OPEB):

Deposits with Financial Institutions 1,920,139               

Investments 65,586,820             

Other than Defined Benefit Pension and OPEB:

Deposits with Financial Institutions 31,411,281             

Investments 288,274,024           

Total Cash and Investments 1,073,821,424$      
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NOTE 3 – DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS  (Continued) 

 

Investment Policies (Continued) 

 

Defined Benefit Pension Investments (Continued) 

The City maintains separate investment managers for its equity and fixed income portfolios.  The managers are 

required to comply with Florida Statutes, City ordinances, other applicable laws and with the fiduciary standards set 

forth in the Employees Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 at 29 U.S.C. Section 1140(a)(1)(A)(C).  The 

managers of these funds are permitted to invest in the following instruments: 

 

Equity Funds (domestic) 

■ Common Stocks. 

■ Stock Index Futures. 

■ Convertible and Preferred Stocks. 

■ American Depository Receipts. 

■ REITS. 

■ Limited Liability Companies (LLCs). 
 

Equity Funds (international) 

■ Restricted to managers specifically hired to invest in international equities. 

■ Common and Preferred Stocks of foreign issuers domiciled in developed and developing countries (emerging 

markets). 

■ Forward Foreign Currency Exchange Contracts for hedging purposes. 

■ American and Global Depository Receipts and similar securities. 
 

Fixed Income Funds (domestic) 

■ Must have a rating of investment grade (BBB/Baa) or better. 

■ United States Treasury and Agency Securities. 

■ Commercial Paper with either a Standard & Poor’s quality rating of A-1 or a Moody’s quality rating of P-1 and 

a maturity of 270 days or less. 

■ Certificates of Deposit up to FDIC or FSLIC insurance coverage or any amount fully collateralized by US 

Government Securities or issued by an institution which is a qualified public depository within the State of Florida. 

■ Corporate Bonds, Mortgage Backed Securities, or Asset Backed Securities. 

■ Yankee Bonds. 

■ Convertible Securities. 

■ Money Market or Cash Equivalent Securities. 
 

Fixed Income Funds (international) 

■ Investment Grade Sovereign Issued Debt. 

■ Investment Grade Corporate Bonds and Commercial Paper. 
 

Cash Equivalents 

■ Certificates of Deposit, Commercial Paper, Direct Obligations of the U.S. Government, Repurchase 

Agreements, Bankers Acceptances, Custodian STIFs, and other appropriate liquid short-term investments. 
 

Real Estate and Alternative Assets 

■ Discretionary commingled vehicles such as insurance company separate accounts, open-end or closed-end 

funds and real estate investment trusts (REITS) holding either leveraged or unleveraged positions in real 

property and real property related assets. 

■ All must be of institutional investment quality and must be diversified by property type and geographic 

location. 
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NOTE 3 – DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS  (Continued) 

 

Investment Policies (Continued) 

 

Defined Benefit Pension Investments (Continued) 

Pooled or Commingled Funds 

■ The fund may invest in commingled vehicles such as mutual funds, LLCs or common trust funds that are 

invested in substantially the same manner and same investments as stated above. 

 

Derivatives 

■ No use of leverage. 

■ No use of “linked” securities that have the principal value or interest rate tied to anything not specifically 

allowed as permissible investments in these guidelines. 

■ Any structured note must maintain a constant spread relationship with its underlying acceptable index. 

■ Collateralized mortgage obligations cannot be more sensitive to interest-rate changes than the underlying 

mortgage-backed security. 

 

Restricted Direct Investments – Prohibited  

■ Short Sales or Margin Transactions. 

■ Investments in Commodities or Commodity Contracts. 

■ Direct loans or extension lines of credit to any interested party. 

■ Letter Stock. 

■ Unregistered securities and private placements (except those regulated by SEC Rule 144a or as specifically 

permitted by the Board). 

■ Investments and assets for which a generally recognized market is not available or for which there is no 

consistent or generally accepted pricing mechanism, unless specifically permitted by the Board. 

 

Other Post-Employment Benefit (OPEB) Investments 

These funds represent investments administered by the City’s OPEB Fund Investment Managers.  They comprise 

$65,586,820 of the City’s total fair value of investments, and are exclusive of the $1,920,139 held in cash by the 

Trustees.  These investments are reported at fair value, which is derived through valuation efforts done by the City’s 

investment managers in conjunction with the plan custodian.  The fair values for the vast majority of these assets are 

readily available.  For those assets whose fair value is less verifiable, the best available information is used.  The 

City maintains separate investment managers for its equity and fixed income portfolios.  The managers of these 

funds are permitted to invest in the following: 

 

Equity Funds (domestic) 

■ Common Stocks. 

■ Stock Index Futures. 

■ Convertible and Preferred Stocks. 

■ American Depository Receipts. 

■ REITS. 

■ Limited Liability Companies (LLCs). 

 

Equity Funds (international) 

■ Restricted to managers specifically hired to invest in international equities. 

■ Common and Preferred Stocks of foreign issuers domiciled in developed and developing countries (emerging 

markets). 

■ Forward Foreign Currency Exchange Contracts for hedging purposes. 

■ American and Global Depository Receipts and similar securities. 
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NOTE 3 – DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS  (Continued) 

 

Investment Policies (Continued) 
 

Other Post-Employment Benefit (OPEB) Investments (Continued) 

Fixed Income Funds (domestic) 

■ Must have a rating of investment grade (BBB/Baa) or better. 

■ United States Treasury and Agency Securities. 

■ Commercial Paper with either a Standard & Poor’s quality rating of A-1 or a Moody’s quality rating of P-1 and 

a maturity of 270 days or less. 

■ Certificates of Deposit up to FDIC or FSLIC insurance coverage or any amount fully collateralized by US 

Government Securities or issued by an institution which is a qualified public depository within the State of Florida. 

■ Corporate Bonds, Mortgage Backed Securities, or Asset Backed Securities. 

■ Yankee Bonds. 

■ Convertible Securities. 

■ Money Market or Cash Equivalent Securities. 

 

Fixed Income Funds (international) 

■ Investment Grade Sovereign Issued Debt. 

■ Investment Grade Corporate Bonds and Commercial Paper. 
 

Cash Equivalents 

■ Certificates of Deposit, Commercial Paper, Direct Obligations of the U.S. Government, Repurchase 

Agreements, Bankers Acceptances, Custodian STIFs, and other appropriate liquid short-term investments. 
 

Real Estate and Alternative Assets 

■ Discretionary commingled vehicles such as insurance company separate accounts, open-end or closed-end 

funds and real estate investment trusts (REITS) holding either leveraged or unleveraged positions in real 

property and real property related assets. 

■ All must be of institutional investment quality and must be diversified by property type and geographic location. 

 

Pooled or Commingled Funds 

■ The fund may invest in commingled vehicles such as mutual funds, LLCs or common trust funds that are 

invested in substantially the same manner and same investments as stated above. 
 

Derivatives 

■ No use of leverage. 

■ No use of “linked” securities that have the principal value or interest rate tied to anything not specifically 

allowed as permissible investments in these guidelines. 

■ Any structured note must maintain a constant spread relationship with its underlying acceptable index. 

■ Collateralized mortgage obligations cannot be more sensitive to interest-rate changes than the underlying 

mortgage-backed security. 
 

Restricted Direct Investments – Prohibited  

■ Short Sales or Margin Transactions. 

■ Investments in Commodities or Commodity Contracts. 

■ Direct loans or extension lines of credit to any interested party. 

■ Letter Stock. 

■ Unregistered securities and private placements (except those regulated by SEC Rule 144a or as specifically 

permitted by the Board). 

■ Investments and assets for which a generally recognized market is not available or for which there is no 

consistent or generally accepted pricing mechanism, unless specifically permitted by the Board. 
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NOTE 3 – DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS  (Continued) 

 

Investment Policies (Continued) 

 

Other Post-Employment Benefit (OPEB) Investments (Concluded) 

The City also imposes the following limitations on its investment managers: 

 

Equity Managers 

■ The equity portion of each portfolio manager shall not be more than 10% invested in the securities of any one 

company at fair value.  

■ The portfolio manager shall not make short sales or use margin or leverage. 

■ The portfolio manager shall not be invested in commodities, private real estate, or investment art objects. 

■ The portfolio manager shall not invest in options, including the purchase, sale or writing of options unless 

options are “covered” by the corresponding security. 

■ The portfolio manager shall not invest in warrants, although warrants issued in connection with stocks held by 

the fund may be sold, held, or converted by the investment manager at its discretion. 

 

Fixed Income Managers 

■ Security ratings reduced beneath the three highest classifications after purchase should be sold by the portfolio 

manager within a reasonable period of time. 

■ Except for treasury and agency obligations, the debt portion of the OPEB fund shall contain no more than 10% 

of a given issuer irrespective of the number of differing issues.   

■ If commercial paper is used, it must be only of the highest quality (A-1 or P-1). 

■ Private placement debt is not permissible. 

 

Other than Defined Benefit Pension and OPEB Investments 

These funds comprise $288,274,024 of the City’s total fair value of investments.  This figure excludes $31,411,281 

of deposits with financial institutions. 

 

Deposits―The institutions in which the City’s monies were deposited were certified as Qualified Public 

Depositories under the Florida Public Deposits Act.  Therefore, the City’s total bank balances on deposit are entirely 

insured or collateralized by the Federal Depository Insurance Corporation and the Bureau of Collateral Securities, 

Division of Treasury, State Department of Insurance.  Additionally, under the terms of the Resolution, GRU’s 

depository is restricted to be a bank, savings and loan association or trust company of the United States or a national 

banking association, having capital stock, surplus and undivided earnings aggregating at least $10 million. 

 

Investments―The City’s other investments are reported at fair value.  Fair value is based on market values or 

independent pricing sources.  Investments in commercial paper are recorded at amortized cost, which approximates 

fair value. 

 

State statutes, City ordinances and the Resolution authorize the City to invest in the following instruments: 

■ Any bonds or other obligations that, as to principal and interest, constitute direct obligations of, or are 

unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America. 

■ Certain bonds or other obligations of any state of the United States of America or of any agency, instrumentality 

or local governmental unit of any state. 

■ Bonds, debentures, or other evidences of indebtedness issued or guaranteed by an agency or corporation that is 

created pursuant to an Act of Congress as an agency or instrumentality of the United States of America. 

■ New Housing Authority Bonds issued by public agencies or municipalities and fully secured as to the payment 

of both principal and interest by a pledge of annual contributions under an annual contributions contract or 

contracts with the United States of America. 
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NOTE 3 – DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS  (Continued) 

 

Investment Policies (Concluded) 

 

Other than Defined Benefit Pension and OPEB Investments (Continued) 

■ Direct and general obligations of any state of the United States of America, to the payment of the principal of 

and interest on which the full faith and credit of such state is pledged, provided that at the time of their purchase 

under the Resolution such obligations are rated by a nationally recognized bond rating agency in either of its 

two highest rating categories. 

■ Certain certificates of deposit, provided that the aggregate of principal amount of all certificates of deposit 

issued by any institution do not at any time exceed 10% of the total of the capital, surplus and undivided 

earnings of such institution unless such certificates of deposit are fully insured (for classification purposes, only 

non-negotiable certificates of deposit are considered deposits, with negotiable certificates considered as 

investments). 

■ Bonds, notes, debentures or other evidences of indebtedness issued or guaranteed by any corporation which are, 

at the time of purchase, rated by a nationally recognized rating agency in its highest rating category, and by at 

least one other nationally recognized rating agency in either of its two highest rating categories, for comparable 

types of debt obligations. 

■ Any fully collateralized repurchase agreement with any bank or trust company organized under the laws of any 

state of the United States or any national banking association or government bond dealer reporting to, trading with 

and recognized as a primary dealer by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, which agreement is secured. 

■ Domestic equity mutual funds rated four (4) stars or higher by Morningstar, Inc. and investment trusts rated AAA. 

 

Money belonging to the Evergreen Cemetery Trust Fund (a non-major special revenue fund), is invested in 

accordance with guidelines established by the Evergreen Cemetery Advisory Committee and/or as approved by the 

City Commission.  These guidelines authorize investments in mutual funds including domestic equities, 

international equities and fixed income funds, as well as in a money market sweep account for cash balances held in 

the Evergreen Cemetery Trust bank account. 

 

Custodial Credit Risk 

 

Deposits—Deposits are exposed to custodial credit risk if they are not covered by depository insurance and they are 

uncollateralized, collateralized with securities held by the pledging financial institution, or collateralized with 

securities held by the pledging financial institution’s trust department or agent, but not in the City’s name. All 

deposits of the City are either covered by depository insurance or are collateralized by the pledging financial 

institution’s trust department or agent in the City’s name.   

 

Investments—Investment securities are exposed to custodial credit risk if they are uninsured and are not registered in 

the name of the government and are held by either the counterparty or by the counterparty’s trust department or 

agent but not in the government’s name. All identifiable investment securities of the City are either insured or are 

registered in the custodian’s name for the benefit of the City and are held by the counterparty’s trust department or 

agent.   

 

Credit Risk  

 

Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder of the 

investment.  This is measured by a rating by a nationally recognized statistical rating organization. The City has 

separate investment policies for its major investment categories.  Detailed information on the City’s policies on 

credit risk for investments is described above in the subsection titled “Investment Policies”, separately for each 

major investment category.  Guidelines for the credit ratings of specific types of investments are listed within each 

major investment category’s investment policy description.   

 



51 

CITY OF GAINESVILLE, FLORIDA  

Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 
 

 

NOTE 3 – DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS  (Continued) 

 

Credit Risk (Concluded) 
 
Presented below is the rating as of year-end for each investment type. 
 
Defined Benefit Pension Investments  

 
 
OPEB Investments  

 
 
Other than Defined Benefit Pension and OPEB Investments 

(1) All of GRU’s commercial paper investments were rated P-2 or better by Moody’s Investor Service and/or A-1 

or better by Standard & Poor’s and/or F2 or better by Fitch, with the exception of Angelsea Funding and 

Chesham Finance for which there was no Fitch rating. 
 
(2) All of GRU’s corporate holdings were rated Aa2 or better by Moody’s Investor Service and/or AA+ or better by 
Standard & Poor’s and/or AA+ or better by Fitch, with the exception of Guardian Life which was not rated. 

 

Concentration of Credit Risk 
 

Investments in any one issuer that represent 5% or more of the City’s investments are reported below.  The City’s 

investment policies do not specifically restrict the concentration allowed to be held with any individual issuer, 

except that the equity portion of each portfolio manager shall not be more than 10% invested in the securities of any 

one company at fair value.  Investments that represent 5% or more by each category are shown below by issuer and 

percent of total investments. 

Fair Exempt from

Investment Type Value Disclosure AAA AA A BBB

Equities 452,948,061$   452,948,061$   -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                      

Limited Partnerships 25,948,774       25,948,774       -                        -                        -                        -                        

Real Estate 6,985,614         6,985,614         -                        -                        -                        -                        

Mutual Funds 146,618,959     146,618,959     -                        -                        -                        -                        

U.S. Government Bonds 18,388,676       -                        16,273,811       254,663            434,349            1,425,853         

Corporate Bonds 5,288,522         -                        3,558,117         208,368            355,389            1,166,648         

Mortgage and Asset Backed 8,471,746         -                        5,699,791         333,787            569,301            1,868,867         

Totals 664,650,352$   632,501,408$   25,531,719$     796,818$          1,359,039$       4,461,368$       

Fair Exempt from

Investment Type Value Disclosure AAA AA A BBB

Equities 55,076,100$     55,076,100$     -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                      

Limited Partnerships 7,875,169         7,875,169         -                        -                        -                        -                        

U.S. Government Bonds 777,958            -                        777,958            -                        -                        -                        

Corporate Bonds 909,874            -                        34,189              176,795            341,158            357,732            

Mortgage and Asset Backed 947,719            -                        -                        947,719            -                        -                        

Totals 65,586,820$     62,951,269$     812,147$          1,124,514$       341,158$          357,732$          

Fair Average

Investment Type Value Rating

Florida PRIME 111,157,031$   AAAm

Mutual Funds 1,590,759         NR

U.S. Government Bonds 9,734,843         Exempt

Commercial Paper
 (1)

89,247,709       A-1

Government Agencies 53,321,844       Exempt

Corporate Bonds 
(2)

23,221,838       AA+

Totals 288,274,024$   
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NOTE 3 – DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS  (Continued) 

 

Concentration of Credit Risk (Concluded) 
 

Defined Benefit Pension Investments 

Only mutual fund investments, which are exempt from disclosure requirements, exceed 5% of total defined benefit 

pension investments. 

OPEB Investments 

No investment in any one issuer exceeds 5% of total OPEB investments. 

 

Other than Defined Benefit Pension and OPEB Investments 

As of September 30, 2018, GRU had more than 5% of the investment portfolio invested with the following issuers: 

 

 Issuer      Percent  

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation    9.75% 

New York Life      7.44% 

Federal Farm Credit Bank     5.15% 

Federal National Mortgage Association     5.77% 

Federal Home Loan Bank     9.72% 

 

Other assets held by the City at September 30, 2018, were in mutual funds and local government investment pools, 

which are exempt from disclosure requirements. 

 

Interest Rate Risk 

 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment.  

Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its fair value to changes in market 

interest rates.  Except for GRU’s investment policy, the City’s investment policies do not provide specific 

restrictions as to maturity length of investments.  GRU’s investment policy limits investments to securities with 

terms of ten years or less to reduce exposure to rising interest rates, unless investments are matched to meet specific 

cash flow needs.  Additionally, the average portfolio term is not to exceed seven years.  GRU’s Bond Resolution 

further limits GRU’s investments in Utility Plant Improvement and Rate Stabilization accounts to five years.   

 

Information about the sensitivity of the fair values of the investments to market interest rate fluctuations is provided 

below, using the segmented time distribution method: 

 

Defined Benefit Pension Investments  

 

 
 

 

Fair Exempt from

Investment Type Value Disclosure < 2 Years 2-5 Years 5-10 Years > 10 Years

Equities 452,948,061$   452,948,061$   -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                      

Limited Partnerships 25,948,774       25,948,774       -                        -                        -                        -                        

Real Estate 6,985,614         6,985,614         -                        -                        -                        -                        

Mutual Funds 146,618,959     146,618,959     -                        -                        -                        -                        

U.S. Government Bonds 18,388,676       -                        2,555,428         6,987,137         6,775,194         2,070,917         

Corporate Bonds 5,288,522         -                        515,261            1,854,516         2,072,086         846,659            

Mortgage and Asset Backed 8,471,746         -                        825,401            2,970,772         3,319,299         1,356,274         

Totals 664,650,352$   632,501,408$   3,896,090$       11,812,425$     12,166,579$     4,273,850$       
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NOTE 3 – DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS  (Concluded) 

 

Interest Rate Risk (Concluded) 

 

OPEB Investments  

 

 
 

Other than Defined Benefit Pension and OPEB Investments 

 

 
 

(1) The dollar weighted average days to maturity (WAM) of Florida PRIME at September 30, 2018, is 33 days. 

The weighted average life (WAL) of Florida PRIME at September 30, 2018, is 72 days. 

 

NOTE 4 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS  

 

The City records assets and liabilities in accordance with GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and 

Application, which determines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures 

about fair value measurement. 

 

Fair value is defined in GASB Statement No. 72 as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 

transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (an exit price).  Fair 

value is a market-based measurement for a particular asset or liability based on assumptions that market participants 

would use in pricing the asset or liability.  Such assumptions include observable and unobservable inputs of market 

data, as well as assumptions about risk and the risk inherent in the inputs to the valuation technique. 

 

As a basis for considering market participant assumptions in fair value measurements, GASB Statement No. 72 

establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into 

three broad levels: 

 

 

Fair Exempt from

Investment Type Value Disclosure < 2 Years 2-5 Years 5-10 Years > 10 Years

Equities 55,076,100$     55,076,100$     -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                      

Limited Partnerships 7,875,169         7,875,169         -                        -                        -                        -                        

U.S. Government Bonds 777,958            -                        -                        203,036            268,824            306,098            

Corporate Bonds 909,874            -                        -                        -                        909,874            -                        

Mortgage and Asset Backed 947,719            -                        83,409              46,794              817,516            -                        

Totals 65,586,820$     62,951,269$     83,409$            249,830$          1,996,214$       306,098$          

Fair

Investment Type Value < 1 Years 1-5 Years

Florida PRIME
 (1)

111,157,031$   111,157,031$   -$                      

Mutual Funds 1,590,759         1,590,759         -                        

Commercial Paper 89,247,709       89,247,709       -                        

Corporate Bonds 23,221,838       6,184,783         17,037,055       

Government Agencies 53,321,844       -                        53,321,844       

U.S. Government Bonds 9,734,843         -                        9,734,843         

Totals 288,274,024$   208,180,282$   80,093,742$     
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NOTE 4 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS  (Continued) 
 

 Level 1―inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that a 

government can access at the measurement date.  U.S. Treasury securities are examples of Level 1 

investments. 

 Level 2―inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly or indirectly.  U.S. agencies, corporate bonds, and financial hedges are examples of 

Level 2 investments. 

 Level 3―inputs are unobservable inputs that reflect the City’s own assumptions about factors that market 

participants would use in pricing the asset or liability (including assumptions about risk).  
 

Valuation methods of the primary fair value measurements are as follows: 
 

 U.S. Treasury securities are valued using quoted market prices (Level 1 inputs). 

 Investments in debt securities are valued using Level 2 measurements because the valuations use interest rate 

curves and credit spreads applied to the terms of the debt instrument (maturity and coupon interest rate) and 

consider the counterparty credit rating. 

 Commodity derivatives, such as futures, swaps and options, which are ultimately settled using prices at 

locations quoted through clearinghouses are valued using level 1 inputs. 

 Other hedging derivatives, such as swaps settled using prices at locations other than those quoted through 

clearinghouses and options with strike prices not identically quoted through a clearinghouse, are valued using 

Level 2 inputs.  For these instruments, fair value is based on pricing algorithms using observable market quotes. 
 

Defined Benefit Pension Investments 

The City’s Defined Benefit Pension Plan categorizes its investments within the fair value hierarchy as follows: 

 

 

Quoted Prices in Significant

Active Markets Other Significant 

for Identical Observable Unobservable

September 30, Assets Inputs Inputs

Investments by Fair Value 2018 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Debt Securities:

U.S. Treasury Securities 18,388,676$           18,388,676$           -$                           -$                           

Mortgage Backed Securities 5,288,522               -                             5,288,522               -                             

Corporate Bonds 8,471,746               -                             8,471,746               -                             

Total Debt Securities 32,148,944             18,388,676             13,760,268             -                             

Equity Securities:

Communication Services 20,074,933             20,074,933             -                             -                             

Consumer Discretionary 43,862,841             43,862,841             -                             -                             

Consumer Staples 20,118,967             20,118,967             -                             -                             

Energy 24,314,120             24,314,120             -                             -                             

Financials 64,721,156             64,721,156             -                             -                             

Health Care 57,072,343             57,072,343             -                             -                             

Industrials 58,287,320             58,287,320             -                             -                             

Information Technology 76,685,927             76,685,927             -                             -                             

Materials 15,129,622             15,129,622             -                             -                             

Utilities 5,606,614               5,606,614               -                             -                             

Real Estate 6,985,614               6,985,614               -                             -                             

Limited Partnership 25,948,774             22,201,633             -                             3,747,141               

Mutual Funds 146,618,959           119,687,856           26,931,103             -                             

Other 67,074,218             -                             -                             67,074,218             

Total Equity Securities 632,501,408           534,748,946           26,931,103             70,821,359             

Total Investments at Fair Value 664,650,352$         553,137,622$         40,691,371$           70,821,359$           

Fair Value Measurements Using
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NOTE 4 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS  (Continued) 

 

Defined Benefit Pension Investments (Concluded) 
 

Investments Measured at Fair Value  

Debt and equity securities classified in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using prices quoted in active 

markets for those securities.  Debt and equity securities classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are valued 

using a matrix pricing technique.  Matrix pricing is used to value securities based on the securities’ relationship to 

benchmark quoted prices. 

 

OPEB Investments 

The City’s OPEB Benefit Plan categorizes its investments within the fair value hierarchy as follows: 

 

Investments Measured at Fair Value  

 

 
 

Debt and equity securities classified in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using prices quoted in active 

markets for those securities.  Debt and equity securities classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are valued 

using a matrix pricing technique.  Matrix pricing is used to value securities based on the securities’ relationship to 

benchmark quoted prices. 

 

Quoted Prices in Significant

Active Markets Other Significant 

for Identical Observable Unobservable

September 30, Assets Inputs Inputs

Investments by Fair Value 2018 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Debt Securities:

U.S. Treasury Securities 777,958$                777,958$                -$                           -$                           

Mortgage Backed Securities 947,719                  -                             947,719                  -                             

Corporate Bonds 909,874                  -                             909,874                  -                             

Total Debt Securities 2,635,551               777,958                  1,857,593               -                             

Equity Securities:

Communication Services 3,557,245               3,557,245               -                             -                             

Consumer Discretionary 4,197,527               4,197,527               -                             -                             

Consumer Staples 2,376,241               2,376,241               -                             -                             

Energy 3,395,514               3,395,514               -                             -                             

Financials 7,958,223               7,958,223               -                             -                             

Health Care 7,645,555               7,645,555               -                             -                             

Industrials 6,630,349               6,630,349               -                             -                             

Information Technology 8,774,008               8,774,008               -                             -                             

Materials 2,325,836               2,325,836               -                             -                             

Utilities 1,340,027               1,340,027               -                             -                             

Real Estate 35,716                    35,716                    -                             -                             

Limited partnership units 7,875,169               -                             7,875,169               -                             

Mutual Funds -                             -                             -                             -                             

Other 6,839,859               6,839,859               -                             -                             

Total Equity Securities 62,951,269             55,076,100             7,875,169               -                             

Total Investments at Fair Value 65,586,820$           55,854,058$           9,732,762$             -$                           

Fair Value Measurements Using
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NOTE 4 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS  (Concluded) 

 

Other than Defined Benefit Pension and OPEB Investments 

 

The City’s financial assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is 

significant to the fair value measurement.  The City’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair 

value measurement requires judgement and may affect the valuation of fair value assets and liabilities and their 

place within the fair value hierarchy levels.  The City’s fair value measurements are performed on a recurring basis.  

The following table presents fair value balances and their levels within the fair value hierarchy as of September 30, 

2018:  

 

 
 

(1) The City’s investment in Florida PRIME is administered by the State Board of Administration (SBA) and 
represents an investment in a pool of investments whereby the City owns a share of the respective pool, not 

the underlying securities. The City’s investment in Florida PRIME qualifies under the provisions of GASB 

Statement No. 79 to be measured at amortized cost for financial reporting purposes.  As of September 30, 

2018, there were no redemption fees, maximum transaction amounts, or any other requirements that serve 

to limit a participant’s daily access to 100% of their account value.  

 
(2) Money market investments and participating interest-earning investment contracts, including commercial 

paper, that have a remaining maturity at the time of purchase of one year or less are measured at amortized 

cost. 

 

 

Quoted Prices in Significant

Active Markets Other Significant 

for Identical Observable Unobservable

September 30, Assets Inputs Inputs

Investments by Fair Value 2018 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Assets

Florida PRIME
 (1)

111,157,031$         -$                           -$                           -$                           

Mutual Funds 1,590,739               1,590,739               -                             -                             

Commercial Paper
 (2)

89,247,709             -                             -                             -                             

U.S. Treasury Securities 9,734,843               -                             9,734,843               -                             

U.S. Agencies:

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp. 17,110,617             -                             17,110,617             -                             

Federal National Mortgage Assn. 10,121,309             -                             10,121,309             -                             

Federal Home Loan Bank 17,056,955             -                             17,056,955             -                             

Federal Farm Credit Bank 9,032,963               -                             9,032,963               -                             

Corporate Bonds:

Massmutual Global Funding 4,841,490               -                             4,841,490               -                             

Guardian Life 5,324,154               -                             5,324,154               -                             

New York Life 13,056,194             -                             13,056,194             -                             

Total Investments at Fair Value Level 288,274,004$         1,590,739$             86,278,525$           -$                           

Liabilities

Effective Interest Rate Swaps (36,890,504)$         -$                           (36,890,504)$         -$                           

Ineffective Interest Rate Swaps (1,874,783)             -                             (1,874,783)             -                             

Total Financial Instruments (38,765,287)$         -$                           (38,765,287)$         -$                           

Fair Value Measurements Using
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NOTE 5 - RETIREMENT PLANS  

 

The City sponsors and administers two single-employer retirement plans, which are accounted for in separate 

Pension Trust Funds. 

 

■ Employees’ Pension Plan (Employees’ Plan) 

■ Consolidated Police Officers’ and Firefighters’ Retirement Plan (Consolidated Plan) 

 

(A) Employees’ Plan 

 

Plan Description⸻The Employees’ Plan is a contributory defined benefit single-employer pension plan that covers 

all permanent employees of the City, except certain personnel who elected to participate in the Defined Contribution 

Plan and who were grandfathered into that plan, and police officers and firefighters who participate in the 

Consolidated Plan.  Benefits and refunds of the defined benefit pension plan are recognized when due and payable in 

accordance with the terms of the plan.  The costs of administering the plan, like other plan costs, are captured within 

the plan itself and financed through contribution and investment income, as appropriate. 

 

The City issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary 

information for the Employees’ Plan.  That report may be obtained by writing to City of Gainesville, Budget & 

Finance Department, P.O. Box 490, Gainesville, Florida  32627 or by calling (352) 334-5054. 

 

Benefits Provided⸻The Employees’ Plan provides retirement, disability and death benefits.  Prior to April 2015, 

disability benefits were provided through a separate plan which was subsequently terminated.  Existing and future 

pension assets and pension liabilities were transferred to the Employees’ Plan at that time.   

 

Retirement benefits for employees are calculated as a fixed percent (often referred to as “the multiplier”) of the 

employee’s final average earnings (FAE) times the employee’s years of service.  The fixed percentage and final 

average earnings vary depending on the date of hire as follows: 

 

 

Date of Hire 

Fixed Percent of FAE 

(Multiplier)  

 

Final Average Earnings 

On or before 10/01/2007 2.0% Highest 36 consecutive months 

10/02/2007 – 10/01/2012 2.0% Highest 48 consecutive months 

On or after 10/02/2012 1.8% Highest 60 consecutive months 

 

For service earned prior to 10/01/2012, the lesser number of unused sick leave or personal critical leave bank credits 

earned on or before 09/30/2012 or the unused sick leave or personal critical leave bank credits available at the time 

of retirement may be credited towards the employee’s years of service for that calculation.  For service earned on or 

after 10/01/2012, no additional months of service will be credited for unused sick leave or personal critical leave 

bank credits. 

 

Retirement eligibility is also tiered based on date of hire as follows: 

■ Employees are eligible for normal retirement:  

 ● If the date of hire occurred on or before 10/02/2007, after accruing 20 years of pension service credit, 

regardless of age or after accruing 10 years of pension service credit and reaching age 65 while still 

employed.   

 ● If the date of hire was between 10/02/2007 and 10/01/2012, after accruing 25 years of pension service 

credit, regardless of age or after accruing 10 years of pension service credit and reaching age 65 while still 

employed. 

 ● If the date of hire was on or after 10/02/2012, after accruing 30 years of pension service credit, regardless 

of age or after accruing 10 years of pension service credit and reaching age 65 while still employed. 
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NOTE 5 - RETIREMENT PLANS  (Continued) 

 

(A) Employees’ Plan (Continued) 

 

■ Employees are eligible for early retirement: 

 ● If the date of hire occurred on or before 10/01/2012, after accruing 15 years of pension service credit and 

reaching age 55 while still employed. 

 ● If the date of hire was on or after 10/02/2012, after accruing 20 years of pension service credit and reaching 

age 60 while still employed. 

 ● Under the early retirement option, the benefit is reduced by 5/12ths of one percent for each month (5% for 

each year) by which the retirement date is less than the date the employee would reach age 65. 

■ Employees receive a deferred vested benefit if they are terminated after accruing five years of pension service 

credit but prior to eligibility for regular retirement.  Those employees will be eligible to receive a benefit 

starting at age 65. 

 

A 2% cost of living adjustment (COLA) is applied to retirements benefits each October 1 if the retiree has reached 

eligibility for COLA prior to that date.  Eligibility for COLA is determined as follows: 

■ If the retiree had at least 20 years of credited service prior to 10/01/2012 and had at least 20 years but less than 

25 years of credited service upon retirement, COLA begins after reaching age 62. 

■ If the retiree had at least 20 years of credited service prior to 10/01/2012 and had at least 25 years of credited 

service upon retirement, COLA begins after reaching age 60. 

■ If the retiree was hired on or before 10/01/2012 and had less than 20 years of credited service on or before 

10/01/2012 and 25 years or more of credited service upon retirement, COLA begins after reaching age 65. 

■ If the retiree was hired after 10/01/2012 and had 30 years or more of credited service upon retirement, COLA 

begins after age 65. 

 

Employees hired on or before 10/01/2012 are eligible to participate in the deferred retirement option plan (DROP) 

when they have completed 27 years of credited service and are still employed by the City.  Such employees retire 

from the Employees’ Plan but continue to work for the City.  The retirement benefit is calculated as if the employee 

had terminated employment and is paid to a DROP account held within the pension plan until the employee actually 

leaves the employment of the City.  While in DROP, these payments earn a guaranteed rate of annual interest, 

compounded monthly.  For employees who entered DROP on or before 10/01/2012, DROP balances earn 6% annual 

interest.  For employees who entered DROP on or after 10/02/2012, DROP balances earn 2.25% annual interest.  

Employees may continue in the DROP for a maximum of 5 years or until reaching 35 years of service, whichever 

occurs earlier.  Upon actual separation from employment, the monthly retirement benefits begin being paid directly 

to the retiree and the retiree must take their DROP balance plus interest as a lump-sum cash disbursement, roll into a 

retirement account or choose a combination of the two options. 

 

Death benefits are paid as follows: 

■ If an active member retires after reaching normal retirement eligibility and had selected a tentative benefit 

option, benefit payments will be made to the beneficiary in accordance with the option selected. 

■ If an active member who is married dies after reaching normal retirement eligibility and did not previously 

select a tentative benefit option, the plan assumes the employee retired the day prior to death and elected the 

Joint & Survivor option naming their spouse as their beneficiary. 

■ If an active member who is not married dies after reaching normal retirement eligibility and did not previously 

select a tentative benefit option, or if an active member dies prior to reaching normal retirement eligibility, or 

if a non-active member with a deferred vested benefit dies before age 65, the death benefit is a refund of the 

member’s contributions without interest to the beneficiary on record. 

■ Continuation of retirement benefits after the death of a retiree receiving benefits is contingent on the payment 

option selected upon retirement.  If the retiree has chosen a life annuity and dies prior to receiving benefits 

greater than the retiree’s contributions to the plan, a lump sum equal to the difference is paid to the beneficiary 

on record. 
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NOTE 5 - RETIREMENT PLANS  (Continued) 

 

(A) Employees’ Plan (Continued) 

 

Disability benefits are paid to eligible regular employees of the City who become totally and permanently unable to 

perform substantial work for pay within a 50-mile radius of the home or city hall, whichever is greater, and who is 

wholly and continuously unable to perform any and every essential duty of employment, with or without a 

reasonable accommodation, or of a position to which the employee may be assigned.  The basic disability benefit is 

equal to the greater of the employee’s years of service credit times 2% with a minimum 42% for in line of duty 

disability and a minimum 25% for other than in line of duty disability, times the employee’s final average earnings 

as would be otherwise calculated under the plan.  The benefit is reduced by any disability benefit percent up to a 

maximum of 50% multiplied by the monthly Social Security primary insurance amount to which the employee 

would be initially entitled to as a disabled worker, regardless of application status.  The disability benefit is limited 

to the lesser of $3,750 per month or an amount equal to the maximum benefit percent, less reductions above and the 

initially determined wage replacement benefit made under workers’ compensation laws. 

 

Employees covered by benefit terms.  At September 30, 2018, the following employees were covered by the benefit 

terms: 

 

Active employees  1,514 

Inactive employees: 

 Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits  1,316 

 Terminated members and survivors of deceased members 

  entitled to benefits but not yet receiving benefits  441  

Total  3,271  

 

Contribution Requirements⸻The contribution requirements of plan members and the City are established and may 

be amended by City Ordinance approved by the City Commission.  The City is required to contribute at an 

actuarially determined rate recommended by an independent actuary.  The actuarially determined rate is the 

estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, with an additional 

amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability.  The City contributes the difference between the actuarially 

determined rate and the contribution rate of employees.  Plan members are required to contribute 5% of their annual 

covered salary.  The rate for fiscal year 2018 was 18.41% of covered payroll.  This rate was influenced by the 

issuance of the Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds, Series 2003A.  The proceeds from this issue were utilized to 

retire the unfunded actuarial accrued liability at that time in the Employees’ Plan.  Differences between the required 

contribution and actual contribution are due to actual payroll experiences varying from the estimated total payroll 

used in the generation of the actuarially required contribution rate.  Administrative costs are financed through 

investment earnings. 

 

Net Pension Liability⸻The net pension liability related to the Employee’s Plan was measured as of September 30, 

2018, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial 

valuation as of October 1, 2017. 

 

The components of the net pension liability at September 30, 2018, were as follows: 

 

Components of Net Pension Liability 

Total pension liability $ 556,402,274 

Plan fiduciary net position  (432,508,135) 

City’s net pension liability $ 123,894,139 

 

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability  77.73% 

 



60 

CITY OF GAINESVILLE, FLORIDA  

Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 
 

 

NOTE 5 - RETIREMENT PLANS  (Continued) 

 

(A) Employees’ Plan (Continued) 

 

Significant Actuarial Assumptions⸻The total pension liability as of September 30, 2018, was determined based on a 

roll-forward of entry age normal liabilities from the October 1, 2017, actuarial valuation to the pension plan’s fiscal 

year end of September 30, 2018, using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the 

measurement. 

 

  Actuarial Assumptions  

 Inflation 3.75% 

 Salary increases Service Based 

 Investment rate of return 8.00% 

 Discount rate 8.00% 

 

Mortality Rate:  

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table projected generationally with 

Mortality Improvement Scale BB. 

 

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return: 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block 

method in which best-estimates of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan 

investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.  For 2018, the inflation rate 

assumption of the investment advisor was 2.50%.  These ranges are combined to produce the long-term 

expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation 

percentage and by adding expected inflation.  

 

Best estimates of geometric real rates of return for each major asset class included in the Employees’ Plan target 

asset allocation are summarized in the following table: 

 

Development of Long-Term Discount Rate for General Employees’ Pension Plan  

 

 
Discount Rate:  

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 8.00%.  The projection of cash flows used to 

determine the discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution 

rate and that City contributions will be made at rates equal to the actuarially determined contribution rates less 

the member contributions.  Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected 

to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members.  Therefore, the long-term 

expected rate of return on the pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments 

to determine the total pension liability. 

 

Long-Term

Target Expected Rate

Allocation of Return

Domestic Equity 47.00% 7.50%

International Equity 28.00% 8.50%

Broad Market Fixed Income 8.00% 2.50%

Real Estate 12.00% 4.50%

Alternative 5.00% 7.00%

Total 100.00%
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NOTE 5 - RETIREMENT PLANS  (Continued) 

 

(A) Employees’ Plan (Continued)  

 

 
 
Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate:  

The following presents the net pension liability, calculated using the discount rate of 8.00%, as well as what the 

Plan’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage-point lower 

(7.00%) or 1 percentage-point higher (9.00%) than the current rate: 
 

     Current  

  1%   Discount   1% 

  Decrease   Rate   Increase 

  (7.00%)   (8.00%)   (9.00%)  

Net pension liability $ 186,848,559 $ 123,894,139 $ 71,089,691 

 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position⸻Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is 

available in the separately issued Employees’ Plan financial report.   

 

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources⸻For the year ended 

September 30, 2018, the City recognized pension expense for the Employees’ Plan of $20,343,413.  At 

September 30, 2018, the City reported deferred outflows of resources related to the Employees’ Plan from the 

following sources: 
 

    Deferred   Deferred 

    Outflows of   Inflows of 

 Description   Resources   Resources  

Difference between expected and actual experience  $ 5,598,683 $ 4,028,469 

Changes of assumptions   24,099,243  - 

Net difference between projected and actual earnings 

 on pension plan investments   -  30,795,642 

Total  $ 29,697,926 $ 34,824,111 

Changes in the Net Pension Liability

Plan

Total Fiduciary Net

Pension Net Pension

Liability Position Liability

Balance at October 1, 2017 537,712,710$                 396,313,562$  141,399,148$  

Changes for the Year:

Service Cost 8,196,544                       -                       8,196,544        

Interest 42,877,827                     -                       42,877,827      

Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience (5,088,593)                     -                       (5,088,593)       

Changes to Assumptions 5,721,214                       -                       5,721,214        

Contributions - Buy Back 89,300                            89,300             -                       

Benefit Payments, Including Refunds of Employee Contributions (33,106,728)                   (33,106,728)     -                       

Contributions - Employer -                                     16,372,689      (16,372,689)     

Contributions - Employee -                                     4,317,403        (4,317,403)       

Net Investment Income -                                     49,219,793      (49,219,793)     

Administrative Expense -                                     (697,884)          697,884           

Net Changes 18,689,564                     36,194,573      (17,505,009)     

Balance at September 30, 2018 556,402,274$                 432,508,135$  123,894,139$  

Increase (Decrease)
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NOTE 5 - RETIREMENT PLANS  (Continued) 

 

(A) Employees’ Plan (Concluded)  

  

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to the Employees’ 

Plan will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

 

     Net Deferred 

  Fiscal Year  Outflows/(Inflows) 

  Ending   of Resources  

 2019 $ 4,462,439 

 2020  (2,015,017) 

 2021  (4,149,860) 

 2022  (3,423,747) 

 2023  - 

 Thereafter  - 

 

(B) Consolidated Plan   

 

Plan Description⸻The Consolidated Plan is a contributory defined benefit single-employer pension plan that covers 

City sworn police officers and firefighters.  The Plan is established under City of Gainesville Code of Ordinances, 

Article 7, Chapter 2, Division 8.  It complies with the provisions of Chapter 112, Part VII, Florida Statutes; Chapter 

22D-1 of the Florida Administrative Code; Chapters 175 and 185, Florida Statutes; and Article X, Section 14 of the 

Florida Constitution, governing the establishment, operation and administration of plans.   

 

Benefits and refunds of the defined benefit pension plan are recognized when due and payable in accordance with 

the terms of the plan.  The costs of administering the plan, like other plan costs, are captured within the plan itself 

and financed through contribution and investment income, as appropriate.   

 

The City issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary 

information for the Consolidated Plan.  That report may be obtained by writing to City of Gainesville, Finance 

Department, P.O. Box 490, Gainesville, Florida  32627 or by calling (352) 334-5054. 

 

Benefits Provided for Police Officers⸻The Consolidated Plan provides retirement, disability and death benefits.  

Retirement benefits for employees are calculated as a fixed percent (often referred to as “the multiplier”) of the 

employee’s final average earnings (FAE) times the employee’s years of service.  For Police Officers, the final 

average monthly earnings (FAME) is the average of pensionable earnings during the 36 to 48 month period 

(depending on date of hire) that produces the highest earnings.  For Police Officers, the benefit multiplier is 2.5% for 

credited service before 10/01/2005, 2.625% for credited service from 10/01/2005 to 07/01/2013 and 2.5% for 

credited service on and after 07/01/2013.  

 

Retirement eligibility for Police Officers is tiered based on date of hire as follows: 

■ Employees are eligible for normal retirement:  

 ● If the date of hire occurred prior to 07/01/2013, after accruing 20 years of pension service credit, regardless 

of age or after accruing 10 years of pension service credit and reaching age 55 while still employed, or 

attaining a combination of credited service and age that equals seventy (Rule of Seventy). 

 ● If the date of hire was on or after 07/01/2013, after accruing 25 years of pension service credit, regardless 

of age or after accruing 10 years of pension service credit and reaching age 55 while still employed, or 

attaining a combination of credited service and age that equals seventy. 



63 

CITY OF GAINESVILLE, FLORIDA  

Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 
 

 

NOTE 5 - RETIREMENT PLANS  (Continued) 

 

(B) Consolidated Plan (Continued) 

 

Benefits Provided for Police Officers⸻(Concluded) 

■ Employees are eligible for early retirement: 

 ● After accruing 10 years of pension service credit and reaching age 50 while still employed. 

■ Under the early retirement option, the benefit is reduced 3% for each year by which the retirement date is less 

than the date the employee would reach age 55. 

■ Employees may choose to receive a refund on contributions to the plan or to receive a deferred vested benefit if 

they are terminated after accruing 10 years of pension service credit but prior to eligibility for regular 

retirement.  Those employees will be eligible to receive a benefit starting at age 55 with no reduction or at age 

50 with the early retirement penalty above. 

 

A 1-2% cost of living adjustment (COLA) is applied to retirement benefits each October 1 if the retiree has reached 

eligibility for COLA prior to that date.  Eligibility for COLA is determined as follows: 

■ If the retiree was eligible for retirement on or before 07/01/2013 and had at least 25 years of credited service 

upon retirement, 2% COLA begins after reaching age 55. 

■ If the retiree was eligible for retirement on or before 07/01/2013 had 20 years of credited service upon 

retirement, 2% COLA begins after reaching age 62. 

■ If the retiree was eligible for retirement after 07/01/2013 and had 25 years of credited service upon retirement 

1% COLA begins after reaching age 55 and the COLA increases to 2% after reaching age 62. 

■ If the retiree retired under the Rule of Seventy with less than 20 years of credited service upon retirement, 

COLA begins after age 62.  Effective July 1, 2013, Police Officers retiring under the Rule of Seventy are 

ineligible for COLA. 

 

Benefits Provided for Firefighters⸻The Consolidated Plan provides retirement, disability and death benefits.  

Retirement benefits for employees are calculated as a fixed percent (often referred to as “the multiplier”) of the 

employee’s final average earnings (FAE) times the employee’s years of service.  For Firefighters, the final average 

monthly earnings (FAME) is the average of pensionable earnings during the 36 month period that produces the 

highest earnings.  For Firefighters, the benefit multiplier is 2.5% for credited service before 10/01/2005, 2.625% for 

credited service from 10/01/2005 to 12/31/2013 and 2.5% for credited service on and after 01/01/2014.  

 

For service earned prior to 01/01/2014, the lesser number of unused sick leave credits earned on or before 

12/31/2013 or the unused sick leave bank credits available at the time of retirement may be credited towards the 

employee’s years of service for that calculation.  For service earned on or after 01/01/2014, no additional months of 

service will be credited for unused sick leave credits. 

 

Retirement eligibility for Firefighters is as follows: 

■ Employees are eligible for normal retirement:  

 ● If the date of hire occurred prior to 01/01/2014, after accruing 20 years of pension service credit, regardless 

of age or after accruing 10 years of pension service credit and reaching age 55 while still employed, or 

attaining a combination of credited service and age that equals seventy (Rule of Seventy). 

 ● If the date of hire was on or after 01/01/2014, after accruing 25 years of pension service credit, regardless 

of age or after accruing 10 years of pension service credit and reaching age 55 while still employed, or 

attaining a combination of credited service and age that equals seventy. 

■ Employees are eligible for early retirement: 

 ● After accruing 10 years of pension service credit and reaching age 50 while still employed. 

 ● Under the early retirement option, the benefit is reduced 3% for each year by which the retirement date is 

less than the date the employee would reach age 55. 
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NOTE 5 - RETIREMENT PLANS  (Continued) 

 

(B) Consolidated Plan (Continued)  

 

Benefits Provided for Firefighters⸻(Concluded) 

■ Employees may choose to receive a refund on contributions to the plan or to receive a deferred vested benefit if 

they are terminated after accruing 10 years of pension service credit but prior to eligibility for regular 

retirement.  Those employees will be eligible to receive a benefit starting at age 55 with no reduction or at age 

50 with the early retirement penalty above. 

 

A 2% cost of living adjustment (COLA) is applied to retirement benefits each October 1 if the retiree has reached 

eligibility for COLA prior to that date.  Eligibility for COLA is determined as follows: 

■ If the retiree had at least 25 years of credited service upon retirement, COLA begins after reaching age 55. 

■ If the retiree had 20 years of credited service upon retirement, COLA begins after reaching age 62. 

■ If the retiree retired under the Rule of Seventy with less than 20 years of credited service upon retirement, 

COLA begins after age 62.   

 

Benefits Provided to Both Police Officers and Firefighters⸻Employees are eligible to participate in the deferred 

retirement option plan (DROP) when they have completed 25 years of credited service and are still employed by the 

City (or meet the Rule of Seventy).  Such employees retire from the Consolidated Plan but continue to work for the 

City.  The retirement benefit is calculated as if the employee had terminated employment and is paid to a DROP 

account held within the pension plan until the employee actually leaves the employment of the City.  While in 

DROP, these payments earn a guaranteed rate of annual interest, (5.5% for Firefighters and 4.5% for Police 

Officers) compounded monthly.  Employees may continue in the DROP for a maximum of 5 years or until reaching 

35 years of service, whichever occurs earlier 

 

Upon actual separation from employment, the monthly retirement benefits begin being paid directly to the retiree 

and the retiree must take their DROP balance plus interest as a lump-sum cash disbursement, roll into a retirement 

account or choose a combination of the two options.  The Consolidated Plan also provides for a reverse DROP 

option. 

 

Death benefits are paid as follows: 

■ If an active member retires after reaching normal retirement eligibility and had selected a tentative benefit 

option, benefit payments will be made to the beneficiary in accordance with the option selected. 

■ If an active member with less than ten years of service dies before reaching normal retirement eligibility, the 

death benefit is a refund to the beneficiary of 100% of the member contributions without interest.   

■ If an active member with at least ten years of service dies before reaching normal retirement eligibility, the 

beneficiary is entitled to the benefits otherwise payable to the employee at early or normal retirement age, based 

on the accrued benefit at the time of death. 

■ Continuation of retirement benefits after the death of a retiree receiving benefits is contingent on the payment 

option selected upon retirement.  If the retiree has chosen a life annuity and dies prior to receiving benefits 

greater than the retiree’s contributions to the plan, a lump sum equal to the difference is paid to the beneficiary 

on record. 

 

Disability Benefits⸻The monthly benefit for a service-incurred disability is the greater of the employee’s accrued 

benefit as of the date of disability or 42% of the FAME.  The monthly benefit for a non-service-incurred disability is 

the greater of the accrued benefit as of the date of disability or 25% of the FAME.  Payments continue until the 

death of the member or until the 120th payment, payable to the designated beneficiary if no option is elected.  There 

is no minimum eligibility requirement if the injury or disease is service-incurred.  If the injury or disease is not 

service-incurred, the employee must have at least five years of service to be eligible for disability benefits.  
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NOTE 5 - RETIREMENT PLANS  (Continued) 

 

(B) Consolidated Plan (Continued)  

 

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms⸻At September 30, 2018, the following employees were covered by the 

benefit terms: 

 

Active employees  396 

Inactive employees: 

 Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits  20 

 Retirees and beneficiaries receiving benefits  447  

Total  863  

 

Contribution Requirements⸻The contribution requirements of plan members and the City are established and may 

be amended by City Ordinance approved by the City Commission in accordance with Part V11, Chapter 112, 

Florida Statutes.   

 

The City is required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate recommended by an independent actuary.  The 

actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees 

during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability.  The City is required to contribute 

the difference between the actuarially determined rate and the contribution rate of employees.  Firefighters contribute 

9.0% of gross pay and Police Officers contribute 7.5% of gross pay.  The City’s contribution rate for fiscal year 2018 

was 16.75% of covered payroll for police personnel and 21.45% for fire personnel.  This rate was influenced by the 

issuance of the Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds, Series 2003B.  In addition, State contributions, which totaled 

$1,366,304, are also made to the plan on behalf of the City under Chapters 175/185, Florida Statutes.  These State 

contributions are recorded as revenue and personnel expenditures in the City’s general fund before they are recorded as 

contributions in the Consolidated Pension Fund.  Differences between the required contribution and actual contribution 

are due to actual payroll experiences varying from the estimated total payroll used in the generation of the actuarially 

required contribution rate.  Administrative costs are financed through investment earnings. 

 

Net Pension Liability⸻The net pension liability related to the Consolidated Plan was measured as of September 30, 

2018, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation 

as of October 1, 2017.  This reflects a change in methodology from the September 30, 2017 financial statements, which 

recorded the net pension liability for the Consolidated Plan based on a prior year measurement date.   

 

The components of the net pension liability reported at September 30, 2018, were as follows: 

 

Components of Net Pension Liability 

Total pension liability $ 285,979,686 

Plan fiduciary net position  (253,221,825) 

City’s net pension liability $ 32,757,861 

 

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability  88.55% 

 

Significant Actuarial Assumptions⸻The total pension liability was determined based on entry age normal liabilities 

using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement. 

 

  Actuarial Assumptions  

 Inflation 3.00% 

 Salary increases Service Based 

 Investment rate of return 8.00% 

 Discount rate 8.00% 
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NOTE 5 - RETIREMENT PLANS  (Continued) 

 

(B) Consolidated Plan (Continued)  

 

Mortality Rate: 

 Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table projected generationally with 

Mortality Improvement Scale BB.   

 

Other Assumptions: 

 The actuarial assumptions used as of September 30, 2017, were based on the assumptions approved by the 

Board in conjunction with an experience study covering the 5 year period ending on September 30, 2010.  Due 

to plan changes first valued in the October 1, 2012, actuarial valuation, changes to the assumed retirement rates 

and the valuation methodology for the assumed increase in benefit service for accumulated sick leave and 

accumulated vacation paid upon termination were made.  Payroll growth assumptions were updated in 2012 and 

investments were reviewed by the Board in February of 2015, based on an asset liability study reflecting the 

current investment policy. 

 

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return: 

 The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments can be determined using a building-block 

method in which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension 

plan investment expenses and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. For 2018 the inflation rate 

assumption of the investment advisor was 2.20%.  These ranges are combined to produce the long-term 

expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation 

percentage and by adding expected inflation.  

 

 Best estimates of geometric real rates of return for each major asset class included in the pension plan’s target 

asset allocation as of September 30, 2018 are summarized in the following table: 

 

Development of Long-Term Discount Rate for the Consolidated Plan  

 

 
 

Long-Term

Target Expected Rate

Allocation of Return *

Large Cap Equity 35.00% 6.60%

Small Cap Equity 15.00% 6.40%

International Equity 15.00% 6.90%

Securitized Credit 6.00% 4.50%

High Yield 4.50% 4.40%

EMD Sovereign 4.50% 4.00%

Private Markets 5.00% 5.50%

Real Estate 10.00% 5.60%

TIPS 2.50% 3.10%

Intermediate Government 2.50% 3.40%

Total 100.00%

* Based on 10 year Returns
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NOTE 5 - RETIREMENT PLANS  (Continued) 

 

(B) Consolidated Plan (Continued)  

 

Discount Rate:  

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 8.00%.  The projection of cash flows used to 

determine the discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution 

rate and that City contributions will be made at rates equal to the actuarially determined contribution rates less 

the member and State contributions.  Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was 

projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members.  Therefore, the 

long-term expected rate of return on the pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit 

payments to determine the total pension liability. 

 

 
 

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate: 

The following presents the net pension liability, calculated using the discount rate of 8.00%, as well as what the 

Plan’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage-point lower 

(7.00%) or 1 percentage-point higher (9.00%) than the current rate: 

 

     Current  

  1%   Discount   1% 

  Decrease   Rate   Increase 

  (7.00%)   (8.00%)   (9.00%)  

Net Pension Liability $ 66,361,485 $ 32,757,861 $ 4,917,902 

 

Changes in the Net Pension Liability

Plan

Total Fiduciary Net

Pension Net Pension

Liability Position Liability

Balance at October 1, 2017 277,576,074$                 241,763,801$  35,812,273$    

Changes for the Year:

Service Cost 3,682,078                       -                       3,682,078        

Interest 21,993,597                     -                       21,993,597      

Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience (2,419,821)                     -                       (2,419,821)       

Changes to Assumptions 4,612,282                       -                       4,612,282        

Contributions - Buy Back -                                 -                       -                       

Benefit Payments, Including Refunds of Employee Contributions (19,464,524)                   (19,464,524)     -                       

Contributions - Employer -                                     4,507,892        (4,507,892)       

Contributions - State -                                     1,366,304        (1,366,304)       

Contributions - Employee -                                     1,963,471        (1,963,471)       

Net Investment Income -                                     24,056,126      (24,056,126)     

Administrative Expense -                                     (699,346)          699,346           

Net Changes 8,403,612                       11,729,923      (3,326,311)       

Adjustment to beginning of year -                                     (271,899)          271,899           

Balance at September 30, 2018 285,979,686$                 253,221,825$  32,757,861$    

Increase (Decrease)
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NOTE 5 - RETIREMENT PLANS  (Concluded) 

 

(B) Consolidated Plan (Concluded)  

 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position⸻Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is 

available in the separately issued Consolidated Plan financial report.   

 

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources⸻For the year ended 

September 30, 2018, the City recognized pension expense for the Consolidated Plan of $3,133,105.  At 

September 30, 2018, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 

the Consolidated Plan from the following sources: 

 

    Deferred   Deferred 

    Outflows of   Inflows of 

 Description   Resources   Resources  

Difference Between Expected and Actual Experience  $ 1,439,353 $ 4,593,511 

Changes of Assumptions   6,851,349  - 

Net Difference Between Projected and Actual Earnings 

 on Pension Plan Investments   -  11,389,514 

Total  $ 8,290,702 $ 15,983,025 

 

Amounts reported as Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources related to pensions will be 

recognized in pension expense as follows: 

 

     Net Deferred 

  Fiscal Year  Outflows/(Inflows) 

  Ending   of Resources  

 2019 $ (395,418) 

 2020  (4,292,530) 

 2021  (2,790,582) 

 2022  (298,119) 

 2023  84,326 

 Thereafter  - 

 

(C) Defined Contribution Pension Plan 

 

Plan Description⸻The Defined Contribution Pension Plan is open to certain existing City professional and 

managerial employees.  The plan is only available to newly hired at-will professional and managerial employees.  

The Commission of the City of Gainesville adopted this plan and related amendments through a City Ordinance.   

 

The plan is qualified under the provisions of Section 401A of the Internal Revenue Code.  Assets of the Defined 

Contribution Plan are self-directed, and investment results are reported to employees quarterly.  The City does not 

have fiduciary accountability for the Defined Contribution Pension Plan and, accordingly, the plan is not reported in 

the accompanying financial statements.  

 

Funding Policy⸻The contribution requirements of plan members and the City are established and may be amended 

by City Ordinance approved by the City Commission in accordance with applicable State Statute.  Plan members are 

required to contribute 5% of their annual covered salary.  The City is required to contribute 10% of covered payroll.  

During fiscal year 2018, plan members contributed $197,877 and the City contributed $330,240. 
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NOTE 6 – OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN  

 

Plan Description⸻By ordinance enacted by the City Commission, the City has established the Retiree Health Care 

Plan (RHCP), a single-employer defined benefit postemployment health care plan that covers eligible retired 

employees.  RHCP, which is administered by the City, allows employees who retire and meet retirement eligibility 

requirements under one of the City’s retirement plans to continue medical coverage as a participant in the City’s 

plan.  Administrative costs are financed through investment earnings. 

 

The City of Gainesville issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required 

supplementary information for the RHCP.  That report may be obtained by writing to City of Gainesville, Finance 

Department, P.O. Box 490, Gainesville, Florida 32627 or by calling (352) 334-5054. 

 

Benefits Provided⸻Prior to September 1, 2008, normal or early retirees are subsidized $10.00 times the number of 

years of credited service plus one of the following: 

a. Plus $5.00 times the numbers of years of age and portion thereof over 65, on the date that retiree first enters 

the retiree health insurance program or January 1, 2009, whichever is later; or  

b. Minus $5.00 times the number of years of age and portion thereof under 65, on the date that retiree first 

enters the retiree health insurance program or January 1, 2009, whichever is later.  

 

DROP participants who have entered a regular DROP before September 1, 2008, or who have declared their 

intention to reverse DROP before September 1, 2008, shall have the period of employment while in the regular 

DROP, or the period of employment after the effective date of commencement of participation in the (reverse) 

DROP, added to credited service for purposes of the calculation described above.  

 

For disabled retirees, the amount that the City will contribute towards the required premium, for persons who 

become retirees based upon application for disability retirement submitted before September 1, 2008, will be an 

amount equal to: 

a. 80% of the individual premiums of the least costly city group health plan option being offered at that time. 

b. The City will contribute towards any other tier of coverage an amount equal to 150% of the individual 

premium of the least costly City group plan option being offered at that time.  

 

For current retirees age 65 or older on January 1, 2009, the amount the City will contribute towards the required 

premium will be the greater of the amount contributed for the month of August 2008 or the amount determined 

under the provisions of the RHCP. 

 

After August 31, 2008, normal or early retirees are subsidized $10.00 times the number of years of credited service 

plus one of the following: 

a. Plus $5.00 times the numbers of years of age and portion thereof over 65, on the date that retiree first enters 

the retiree health insurance program; or 

b. Minus $5.00 times the number of years of age and portion thereof under 65, on the date that retiree first 

enters the retiree health insurance program. 

 

DROP participants who have entered a regular DROP after August 31, 2008, or who have declared their intention to 

reverse DROP after August 31, 2008, shall not have the period of employment while in regular DROP, or the period 

of employment after the effective date of commencement of participation in the (reverse) DROP, count as credited 

service for purposes of the calculation described above.  



70 

CITY OF GAINESVILLE, FLORIDA  

Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 
 

 

NOTE 6 – OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN  (Continued) 

 

Benefits Provided⸻(Concluded) 

For disabled retirees, the amount that the City will contribute towards the required premium, for persons who 

become retirees based upon application for disability retirement submitted after August 31, 2008, will be: 

a. For approved “in-line-of-duty” disabilities under the Consolidated Plan or the City’s Employees’ Disability 

Plan, the City will contribute towards an individual premium an amount equal to: 

i. 80% of the individual premiums of the least costly city group health plan option being offered at 

the time the disability retirement is approved. 

ii.  The City will contribute towards any other tier of coverage an amount equal to 150% of the 

individual premium of the least costly City group plan option being offered at the time the 

disability retirement is approved. 

b. For approved disabilities other than “in-line-of-duty”, the City will contribute 50% of the amount described 

above. 

 

Those who do not meet the age and service requirements above are eligible for coverage only.  Retirees must pay 

100% of the active premium rates up to age 65, the 100% of the Medicare supplement premium rate.  

 

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms⸻At September 30, 2018, the following employees were covered by the benefit 

terms: 

 

Active Employees  2,068 

Inactive Employees: 

 Retirees and Beneficiaries Currently Receiving Benefits  869 

 Vested Terminated Members Entitled to Future Benefits  1,131  

Total  4,068  

 

Contributions⸻The contribution policy of the City is established and may be amended by the City at any time.  The 

annual contribution consists of the normal cost amount developed annually plus, given there is any unfunded 

actuarial accrued liability (UAAL), an amount to amortize said UAAL over 10 years from inception.  For the 2018 

fiscal year, the City contributed a total of $2,016,572 to pre-fund benefits.  

 

In July 2005, the City issued $35,210,000 Taxable Other Post-Employment Benefit (OPEB) bonds to retire the 

unfunded actuarial accrued liability then existing in the RHCP Trust Fund.  This allowed the City to reduce its 

contribution rate.   

 

Investment Policy⸻The City Commission has the responsibility to develop a policy for the investment of the assets 

of the RHCP.  The investment of the assets must be consistent with the written investment policy adopted by the 

City Commission (Section 2-438 of the Gainesville City Code).  The policies are structured to maximize the 

financial return to the RHCP consistent with the risks incumbent in each investment and are structured to establish 

and maintain an appropriate diversification of the RHCP’s assets.  The City Commission periodically undertakes 

studies to evaluate the potential consequence of alternative investment strategies on the long term well-being of the 

RHCP. 

 

Net OPEB Liability⸻The City implemented GASB Statement No. 75 in 2018.  The net OPEB liability related to the 

RHCP was measured as of September 30, 2018, and the total OPEB liability used to calculate the net OPEB liability 

was determined by an actuarial valuation as of October 1, 2017, rolled forward to September 30, 2018. 
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NOTE 6 – OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN  (Continued) 

 

Net OPEB Liability⸻(Concluded) 

The components of the net OPEB liability at September 30, 2018, were as follows: 
 
Components of Net OPEB Liability 

Total OPEB Liability $ 74,213,751 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position  67,399,291 

City’s Net OPEB Liability $ 6,814,460 

 

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability  90.82% 

 

Significant Actuarial Assumptions⸻The total OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of October 1, 

2017, using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise 

specified: 

 

 Inflation Rate 3.00% 

 Investment Return Rate 8.00% 

 Salary Increase Service Based 

 Discount Rate 8.00% 

 Healthcare Cost Trend Rate 8.30% to 4.50% 

 

Mortality Rate⸻All mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 mortality tables.  All mortality rates are those 

outlined in Milliman’s July 1, 2016, Florida Retirement System (FRS) valuation report.  

 

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return⸻The long-term expected rate of return on RHCP investments can be determined 

using a building-block method in which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, 

net of RHCP investment expenses and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.  These ranges are 

combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by 

the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.  

 

Best estimates of geometric real rates of return for each major asset class included in the pension plan’s target asset 

allocation as of September 30, 2018 are summarized in the following table: 

 

 
Discount Rate⸻The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 8.00%.  The projection of cash flows 

used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution 

rate and that City contributions will be made at rates equal to the actuarially determined contribution rates less the 

member contributions.  Based on those assumptions, the RHCPs fiduciary net position was projected to be available 

to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members.  Therefore, the long-term expected rate of 

return on the pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the 

total pension liability. 

Long-Term

Target Expected Rate

Allocation of Return

Equities 80.00% 9.00%

Real Estate 10.00% 6.00%

Alternative Investments 5.00% 8.00%

Fixed Income 5.00% 3.00%

Total 100.00%
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NOTE 6 – OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN  (Continued) 

 

Changes in Net OPEB Liability  

 

 
 

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate⸻The following presents the net OPEB 

liability, calculated using the discount rate of 8.00%, as well as what the Plan’s net OPEB liability would be if it 

were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage-point lower (7.00%) or 1 percentage-point higher (9.00%) 

than the current rate: 

 

 

     Current  

  1%   Discount   1% 

  Decrease   Rate   Increase 

  (7.00%)   (8.00%)   (9.00%)  

Net OPEB Liability (Asset) $ 13,903,239 $ 6,814,460 $ 682,774 

 

 

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Health Care Trend Rate⸻The following presents the net 

OPEB liability, calculated using the health care cost trend rate of 8.30%, as well as what the RHCP net OPEB 

liability would be if it were calculated using a health care cost trend rate that is 1 percentage-point lower or 1 

percentage-point higher than the current rate: 

 

 

     Current  

  1%   Discount   1% 

  Decrease   Rate   Increase  

Net Pension Liability (Asset) $ (459,802) $ 6,814,460 $ 15,334,100 

 

 

 

Plan

Total Fiduciary Net

OPEB Net OPEB

Liability Position Liability

Balance at October 1, 2017 67,590,558$                   63,500,353$    4,090,205$      

Changes for the year:

Service cost 1,467,086                       -                       1,467,086        

Interest 5,676,583                       -                       5,676,583        

Differences between expected and actual experience 3,158,374                       -                       3,158,374        

Changes in assumptions 675,415                          -                       675,415           

Contributions - employer -                                     2,016,572        (2,016,572)       

Net investment income -                                     6,250,519        (6,250,519)       

Benefit payments (4,354,263)                     (4,354,263)       -                       

Administrative expense -                                     (13,890)            13,890             

Net changes 6,623,195                       3,898,938        2,724,257        

Balance at September 30, 2018 74,213,753$                   67,399,291$    6,814,462$      

Increase (Decrease)
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NOTE 6 – OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN  (Concluded) 

 

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources⸻For the year ended 

September 30, 2018, the City will recognize OPEB expense of $2,416,505.  At September 30, 2018, the City 

reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following 

sources: 

 

    Deferred   Deferred 

    Outflows of   Inflows of 

 Description   Resources   Resources  

Difference Between Expected and Actual Experience  $ 2,707,178 $ - 

Changes of Assumptions   578,927  - 

Net Difference Between Projected and Actual 

 Earnings on OPEB Plan Investments   -  961,781 

Total  $ 3,286,105 $ 961,781 

 

Amounts reported as Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources related to OPEB will be 

recognized in OPEB Expense as follows: 

 

     Net Deferred 

  Fiscal Year  Outflows/(Inflows) 

  Ending   of Resources  

 2019 $ 307,238 

 2020  307,238 

 2021  307,238 

 2022  307,238 

 2023  547,684 

 Thereafter  547,688 

 

 

NOTE 7 - DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN  

 

The City of Gainesville offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with Internal 

Revenue Code Section 457.  The City has complied with the requirements of subsection (g) of IRC Section 457 and, 

accordingly, all assets and income of the plan are held in trust for the exclusive benefit of the participants and their 

beneficiaries.  

 



74 

CITY OF GAINESVILLE, FLORIDA  

Notes to Financial Statements 

September 30, 2018 

 

NOTE 8 – LONG-TERM DEBT AND CAPITAL LEASES  

 

Governmental Activities 
 

 $15,892,220 Guaranteed Entitlement Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Series 1994 – 3.0% - 6.1%, final 

maturity 2024; payable solely from and secured by a lien upon and pledge of monies from the City’s 

Guaranteed Entitlement Funds (Intergovernmental Revenues).  Current Interest Paying Bonds were paid in full 

August 1, 2006.  For Capital Appreciation Bonds, principal is payable August 1 and February 1 beginning 

August 1, 2018.  Interest accrues to principal and is payable upon maturity or prior redemption. 

 

 $40,042,953 Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds, Series 2003A – 1.71% - 6.19%, issued March 14, 2003, final 

maturity October 2032, payable solely from non-ad valorem revenues.  Principal payable annually on 

October 1, beginning 2004.  Interest payable semi-annually beginning October 1, 2003.  The bonds are not 

subject to redemption prior to maturity.  

 

 $49,851,806 Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds, Series 2003B – 3.07% - 5.42%, issued March 14, 2003, final 

maturity October, 2033, payable solely from non-ad valorem revenues.  Principal payable annually on 

October 1, beginning 2006.  Interest payable semi-annually beginning October 1, 2003.  The bonds are not 

subject to redemption prior to maturity.  

 

 $11,500,000 Capital Improvement Revenue Note, Series 2009 – 5.15%, issued July 3, 2009, final maturity 

November 1, 2028, payable solely from non-ad valorem revenues.  Principal payable annually on November 1, 

beginning in fiscal year 2011, interest payable semi-annually beginning November 1, 2009.  This note also 

funded an additional $1.5 million of capital projects for which the debt and assets are reported in the Solid 

Waste and Stormwater enterprise funds.  This note was partially refunded by Revenue Refunding Note Series 

2016A.  Final payment is due November 1, 2018.   

 

 $3,036,907 Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2010 – 2.00% - 4.375%, issued July 13, 2010, final 

maturity October 2030, payable solely from non-ad valorem revenues.  Principal payable annually on 

October 1, beginning 2011.  Interest payable semi-annually beginning October 1, 2010.  The bonds are not 

subject to redemption prior to maturity.  This note also funded an additional $1,313,093 of capital 

improvements for which the debt and assets are reported in the Ironwood Golf Course enterprise fund.   

 

 $361,856 Construction Promissory Note – Variable interest rate based on 5 Year Treasury Index plus 2.75%.  In 

December 2009, a promissory note was entered into for construction of the CRA office building with Sunstate 

Federal Credit Union to be repaid from tax increment proceeds.  Interest payable monthly beginning February 

2010 and principal payable monthly beginning February 2011.  Loan payments are amortized over a 360 month 

period with a balloon payment due February 2025.  The interest rate was 5.99% at September 30, 2018. 

 

 $6,230,000 Revenue Refunding Note Series 2011 – 2.36% fixed, issued November 1, 2011, final maturity 

July 1, 2022; payable solely from non-ad valorem revenues.  Proceeds from the Note were used to refinance all 

of the First Florida Governmental Finance Commission Series 2002 Bonds along with closing costs incurred.   

 

 $3,730,000 Revenue Note Series 2011A – 2.29% fixed issued December 21, 2011, final maturity October 1, 

2021; payable solely from non-ad valorem revenues.  Proceeds from the Note are to be used for partial funding 

of the renovation and reconstruction of the Police Department Headquarters, capital improvements and 

remediation improvements at Depot Park and other capital improvements. 

 

 $14,715,000 Revenue Refunding Note Series 2014 – 2.4% fixed, issued February 14, 2014, final maturity 

October 1, 2025; payable solely from non-ad valorem revenues.  Proceeds from the Note were used to refinance 

all of the Capital Improvement Revenue Bond Series 2005 Bonds along with closing costs incurred. 
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NOTE 8 – LONG-TERM DEBT AND CAPITAL LEASES  (Continued) 
 

Governmental Activities (Concluded) 
 

 $12,535,000 Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2014 – 2.00% - 5.00%, issued December 17, 2014, 

final maturity October 2034, payable solely from non-ad valorem revenues.  Principal payable annually on 

October 1, beginning 2015.  Interest payable semi-annually beginning April  1, 2015.  The bonds are not subject 

to redemption prior to maturity.  This note also funded an additional $2,000,000 of capital improvements for 

which the debt and assets are reported in the Solid Waste enterprise fund.   
 

 $11,970,000 Revenue Refunding Note Series 2016A – 2.3% fixed, issued April 15, 2016, final maturity 

November 1, 2028; payable solely from non-ad valorem revenues.  Proceeds from the Note were used to 

refinance all of the First Florida Governmental Financing Commission Loan, Series 2005 and the First Florida 

Governmental Financing Commission Loan, Series 2007 and partial refunding of the Capital Improvement 

Revenue Note Series 2009 along with closing costs incurred.  
 

 $6,630,000 Capital Improvement Revenue Notes, Series 2016B – 2.4% fixed, issued April 15, 2016, final 

maturity October 1, 2031, payable solely from non-ad valorem revenues.  Annual Principal payments begin on 

October 1, 2017.  Semi-annual interest payments begin November 1, 2016.  Proceeds from the Note are to be 

used for partial funding of the road resurfacing and repairs and streetscapes. 
 

 $10,365,000 Capital Improvement Revenue Note, Series 2017 – 2.75% fixed, issued December 7, 2017 to 

finance the cost of: (1) acquiring, installing, and consulting costs related to implementing a Human Resources 

ERP system; (2) acquisition, construction, improvement and equipping a South Main Street firehouse; and (3) 

street, curb, storm water infrastructure improvements and other capital costs.  Payable solely from non-ad 

valorem revenues, principal payments on the note is payable annually commencing October 1, 2018 with a 

maturity date of October 1, 2037.  Interest payments on the note is payable semi-annually on April 1 and 

October 1 of each year.  
 

Business-Type Activities – Utility Fund  
 

 $196,950,000 Utilities System Revenue Bonds, 2005 Series A – 4.75% - 5.00%, dated November 16, 2005, 

mature on various dates through October 1, 2036.  The 2005 Series A Bonds are subject to redemption at the 

option of the City on and after October 1, 2015, as a whole or in part at any time, at a redemption price of 100% 

of the principal amount, plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.  The 2005 Series A Bonds were issued 

to pay a portion of the cost of acquisition and construction of certain improvements to the City’s utilities system 

and to refund the City’s Utilities System Commercial Paper Notes, Series C.  In March 2007, the 2007 Series A 

Bonds ($139,505,000) were issued to advance-refund to the maturity dates a portion of the bonds maturing from 

October 1, 2030 to October 1, 2036.  The proceeds related to the refunded bonds were deposited into an escrow 

account to refund the bonds on October 1, 2015, at 100% of par.  In August 2012, the 2012 Series A Bonds 

($81,860,000) were issued to refund $78,690,000 of bonds maturing from October 1, 2021 through October 1, 

2028.  In December 2014, the 2014 Series B Bonds ($30,970,000) were issued to advance-refund $12,725,000 

for portions of bonds maturing from October 1, 2029, October 1, 2030, and October 1, 2036.   
 

 $61,590,000 Utilities System Revenue Bonds, 2005 Series B (Federally Taxable) – 5.31%, dated 

November 16, 2005, final maturity October 1, 2021.  The 2005 Series B Bonds are subject to redemption at the 

option of the City, in whole or in part, on any date, at a redemption price equal to the greater of:  100% of the 

principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date of redemption; or the sum of the present values of 

the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest on the bonds to be redeemed discounted to the date 

of redemption on a semiannual basis plus 12.5 basis points.  The 2005 Series B Bonds were issued to pay a 

portion of the cost of acquisition and construction of certain improvements to the City’s utilities system and to 

refund the City’s Utilities System Commercial Paper Notes, Series D originally issued in June 2000.  In August 

2012, the 2012 Series B Bonds ($100,470,000) were issued to partially refund $31,560,000 of bonds maturing 

from October 1, 2015 and October 1, 2021. 
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NOTE 8 – LONG-TERM DEBT AND CAPITAL LEASES  (Continued) 

 

Business-Type Activities – Utility Fund  (Continued) 

 

 $55,135,000 Utilities System Revenue Bonds, 2005 Series C – Variable interest rates based on market rates, 

1.67% at September 30, 2018, dated November 16, 2005, final maturity October 1, 2026.  The 2005 Series C 

Bonds are subject to redemption at the option of the City at a redemption price of 100% of the principal amount, 

plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.  The 2005 Series C Bonds were issued to refund a portion of the 

City’s Utilities System Revenue Bonds, 1996 Series A.  A liquidity facility is provided by Helaba at 0.29% and 

expires November 24, 2020.  In August 2012, the 2012 Series B Bonds ($100,470,000) were issued to partially 

refund $17,570,000 of bonds maturing from October 1, 2013 through October 1, 2017. 

 

 $53,305,000 Utilities System Revenue Bonds, 2006 Series A – Variable interest rates based on market rates, 1.67% 

at September 30, 2018, dated July 6, 2006, final maturity October 1, 2026.  The 2006 Series A Bonds are subject to 

redemption at the option of the City, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount 

plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.  The 2006 Series A Bonds were issued to pay a portion of the cost of 

acquisition and construction of certain improvements to the City’s utilities system and to refund a portion of the 

City’s Utilities System Revenue Bonds, 1996 Series A.  In August 2012, the 2012 Series B Bonds ($100,470,000) 

were issued to partially refund $25,930,000 of bonds maturing from October 1, 2013 through October 1, 2020.  A 

liquidity facility is provided by Helaba at 0.29% and expires November 24, 2020. 

 

 $139,505,000 Utilities System Revenue Bonds, 2007 Series A – Variable interest rates based on market rates, 

1.57% at September 30, 2018, dated July 6, 2006, final maturity October 1, 2036.  The 2007 Series A Bonds are 

subject to redemption at the option of the City, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the 

principal amount plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.  The 2007 Series A Bonds were issued to refund a 

portion of the City’s Utilities System Revenue Bonds, 2003 Series A and a portion of the City’s Utilities System 

Revenue Bonds, 2005 Series A.  A liquidity facility is provided by State Street Bank and Trust at 0.46% and 

expires April 1, 2021.  

 

 $105,000,000 Utilities System Revenue Bonds, 2008 Series A (Federally Taxable) – 5.27%, dated 

February 13, 2008, final maturity October 1, 2020.  The 2008 Series A Bonds are subject to redemption prior to 

maturity at the election of the City in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the greater of:  100% of 

the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date of redemption; or the sum of the present 

values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest on the bonds to be redeemed discounted to 

the date of redemption on a semiannual basis plus 12.5 basis points.  The 2008 Series A Bonds were issued to 

pay costs of acquisition and construction of the City’s utilities system.  In August 2012, the 2012 Series B 

Bonds ($100,470,000) were issued to partially refund $14,405,000 of bonds maturing from October 1, 2014 

through October 1, 2017.  In December 2014, the 2014 Series B Bonds ($30,970,000) were issued to redeem 

$19,915,000 for portions of bonds maturing from October 1, 2015 through October 1, 2020. 

 

 $90,000,000 Utilities System Revenue Bonds, 2008 Series B – Variable interest rates based on market rates, 

1.58% at September 30, 2018, dated February 13, 2008, final maturity October 1, 2038.  The 2008 Series B 

Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity at the election of the City in whole or in part, at a redemption 

price of 100% of the principal amount plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.  The 2008 Series B 

Bonds were issued to pay costs of acquisition and construction of the City’s utilities system.  A liquidity facility 

is provided by Barclay’s at 0.29% and expires June 29, 2020.  
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NOTE 8 – LONG-TERM DEBT AND CAPITAL LEASES  (Continued) 
 

Business-Type Activities – Utility Fund  (Continued) 

 

 $156,900,000 Utilities System Revenue Bonds, 2009 Series B – Issuer Subsidy – Build America Bonds 

(Federally Taxable) – 4.60% – 5.65%, dated September 16, 2009, final maturity October 1, 2039.  The 2009 

Series B Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity at the election of the City at a redemption price equal to 

the greater of:  100% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date of redemption; or the 

sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest on the bonds to be 

redeemed discounted to the date of redemption on a semiannual basis plus 12.5 basis points.  The 2009 Series B 

Bonds were issued to pay costs of acquisition and construction of the City’s utilities system.  
 

 $12,930,000 Utilities System Revenue Bonds, 2010 Series A (Federally Taxable) – 5.87%, dated 

November 1, 2010, final maturity October 1, 2030.  The 2010 Series A Bonds are subject to redemption prior to 

maturity at the election of the City at a redemption price equal to the greater of:  100% of the principal amount, 

plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date of redemption; or the sum of the present values of the remaining 

scheduled payments of principal and interest on the bonds to be redeemed discounted to the date of redemption on 

a semiannual basis plus 12.5 basis points.  The 2010 Series A Bonds were issued to (a) pay costs of acquisition 

and construction of the City’s utilities system, (b) to provide for the payment of certain capitalized interest on the 

Taxable 2010 Series A Bonds, and (c) to pay the costs of issuance of the Taxable 2010 Series A Bonds. 
 

 $132,445,000 Utilities System Revenue Bonds, 2010 Series B – Issuer Subsidy – Build America Bonds 

(Federally Taxable) – 6.02%, dated November 1, 2010, final maturity October 1, 2040.  The 2010 Series B 

Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity at the election of the City at a redemption price equal to the 

greater of:  100% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date of redemption; or the 

sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest on the bonds to be 

redeemed discounted to the date of redemption on a semiannual basis plus 12.5 basis points.  The 2010 Series B 

Bonds were issued to (a) pay costs of acquisition and construction of the City’s utilities system, (b) to provide 

for the payment of certain capitalized interest on the Taxable 2010 Series B Bonds, and (c) to pay the costs of 

issuance of the Taxable 2010 Series B Bonds. 
 

 $16,365,000 Utilities System Revenue Bonds, 2010 Series C – 5.00% – 5.25%, dated November 1, 2010, final 

maturity October 1, 2034.  The 2010 Series C Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity at the election of 

the City at a redemption price so specified.  The 2010 Series C Bonds were issued to (a) refund $5,860,000 in 

aggregate principal amount of the 2003 Series A Bonds, and (b) to provide funds to refund $10,505,000 in 

aggregate principal amount of the 2008 Series A Bonds. 
 

 $81,860,000 Utilities System Revenue Bonds, 2012 Series A – 2.50% – 5.00%, dated August 2, 2012, final 

maturity October 1, 2028.  The 2012 Series A Bonds were issued to (a) provide funds to refund $1,605,000 in 

aggregate principal amount of the 2003 Series A Bonds, (b) to provide funds to refund $78,690,000 in aggregate 

principal amount of the 2005 Series A Bonds, and (c) to pay cost of issuance of the 2012 Series A Bonds.  

These bonds mature at various dates from October 1, 2021 to October 1, 2028.  Those bonds maturing on and 

after October 1, 2023, are subject to redemption prior to maturity, at a redemption price so specified. 
 

 $100,470,000 Utilities System Revenue Bonds, 2012 Series B – Variable interest rates based on market rates, 

1.59% at September 30, 2018, dated August 2, 2012, final maturity October 1, 2042.  The 2012 Series B Bonds 

were issued to (a) refund $31,560,000 in aggregate principal amount of the 2005 Series B Bonds, (b) provide funds 

to refund $17,570,000 in aggregate principal amount of the 2005 Series C Bonds, (c) provide funds to refund 

$25,930,000 in aggregate principal amount of the 2006 Series A Bonds, (d) provide funds to refund $14,405,000 in 

aggregate principal amount of the 2008 Series A Bonds, and (e) pay costs of issuance of the 2012 Series B Bonds.  

These bonds mature at various dates through October 1, 2042.  The 2012 Series B Bonds are subject to redemption 

prior to maturity, at a redemption price so specified.  A liquidity facility is provided by Citibank at 0.33% and 

expires on June 29, 2020. 
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NOTE 8 – LONG-TERM DEBT AND CAPITAL LEASES  (Continued) 

 

Business-Type Activities – Utility Fund  (Continued) 

 

 $37,980,000 Utilities System Revenue Bonds, 2014 Series A – 2.50% – 5.00%, dated December 19, 2014, 

with final maturity October 1, 2044.  The 2014 Series A Bonds were issued to (a) provide funds for the payment 

of the cost and acquisition and construction of certain improvements to the System, and (b) pay costs of 

issuance of the 2014 Series A Bonds.  These bonds mature at various dates beginning October 1, 2015, and 

from October 1, 2021 to October 1, 2034, October 1, 2039, and October 1, 2044.  The bonds maturing prior to 

October 1, 2024 are not subject to redemption prior to maturity.  The bonds maturing on and after October 1, 

2025, are subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of GRU on and after October 1, 2024, as whole 

or in part at any time, at a redemption price plus interest so specified. 

 

 $30,970,000 Utilities System Revenue Bonds, 2014 Series B – 3.13% – 5.00%, dated December 19, 2014, 

with final maturity October 1, 2036.  The 2014 Series B Bonds were issued to (a) provide funds to refund 

$12,725,000 in aggregate principal amount of a portion of the 2005 Series A Bonds; (b) provide funds to refund 

$19,915,000 in aggregate principal amount of a portion of the 2008 Series A Bonds; and (c) pay costs of 

issuance of the 2014 Series B Bonds.  These bonds mature at various dates beginning October 1, 2015 through 

October 1, 2020, from October 1, 2029 to October 1, 2030, and October 1, 2036.  The bonds maturing prior to 

October 1, 2024, are not subject to redemption prior to maturity.  The bonds maturing on and after October 1, 

2025, are subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of GRU on and after October 1, 2024, as whole 

or in part at any time, at a redemption price plus interest so specified.  

 

 $415,920,000 Utilities System Revenue Bonds, 2017 Series A – 4.00% – 5.00%, dated November 7, 2017, 

with final maturity on October 1, 2040.  The 2017 Series A Bonds were issued concurrently with 2017 Series B 

and Series C bonds to (a) finance a portion of the costs of acquisition of the GREC Biomass Plant and (b) pay 

cost of issuance.  These bonds mature at various dates beginning October 1, 2018 and ending October 1, 2040.  

The 2017 Series A Bonds were issued at a premium of $73,205,458 as serial bonds with the first optional call 

date of October 1, 2027.  These bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity. 

 

 $150,000,000 Utilities System Revenue Bonds, 2017 Series B – Variable interest rates based on market rates, 

2.22% at September 30, 2018, dated November 7, 2017, final maturity October 1, 2044, and issued concurrently 

with 2017 Series A and 2017 Series C Bonds to (a) finance a portion of the costs of acquisition of the GREC 

Biomass Plant and (b) paying cost of issuance.  These bonds are direct placement bonds and the sale was awarded 

to Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. with the following terms: (a) GRU pays variable rate at 70% of 1 Month Libor times 

the margin rate factor (MRF) (b) bank fee of .35%, calculated on the basis of 360 days (c) contract termination 

date of November 7, 2020.  These bonds mature at various dates beginning October 1, 2040, with final maturity 

date of October 1, 2044. 
 

 $115,000,000 Utilities System Revenue Bonds, 2017 Series C – Variable interest rates based on market rates, 

2.30% at September 30, 2018, dated November 7, 2017, final maturity October 1, 2047, and issued concurrently 

with 2017 Series A and 2017 Series B Bonds to (a) finance a portion of the costs of acquisition of the GREC 

Biomass Plant and (b) pay cost of issuance.  These bonds are direct placement bonds and the sale was awarded to 

Bank of America, N.A. with the following terms: (a) GRU pays variable rate at 70% of 1 Month Libor times MRF 

(b) bank fee of .41%, calculated on the basis of 360 days (c) contract termination date of November 7, 2020.  

These bonds mature at various dates beginning October 1, 2044, with final maturity date of October 1, 2047. 
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NOTE 8 – LONG-TERM DEBT AND CAPITAL LEASES  (Continued) 
 

Business-Type Activities – Utility Fund  (Concluded) 

 

 $125,000,000 Utilities System Commercial Paper Notes, Series C Notes – These tax-exempt notes are 

subordinated debt and may continue to be issued to refinance maturing Series C Notes or provide for other 

costs.  On May 17, 2018, the City Commission approved the Fourth Amendment of the Second Supplemental 

Subordinated Utilities System Revenue Bond Resolution authorizing the issuance of additional Series C 

Commercial Paper.  GRU issued $40,000,000 in Series C Commercial Paper Notes on July 19, 2018.  The 

Commercial Paper proceeds are to partially fund the 2018 capital improvement program for the System.  

Liquidity support for the Series C Notes is provided under a long-term credit agreement effective November 30, 

2015, with Bank of America, NA at 0.45% and was set to expire November 30, 2018, but has been extended to 

November 30, 2021.  The obligation of the bank may be substituted by another bank that meets certain credit 

standards and which is approved by the Utility and the Agent.  Under terms of the agreement, the Utility may 

borrow up to $125,000,000 with same day availability ending on the termination date, as defined in the 

agreement.  Interest is at a variable market rate which was 1.69% at September 30, 2018.  Series C Notes of $85 

million are outstanding as of September 30, 2018. 

 

 $25,000,000 Utilities System Commercial Paper Notes, Series D Notes – In June 2000, a Utilities System 

Commercial Paper Note Program, Series D (taxable) was established in a principal amount not to exceed 

$25,000,000.  On December 16, 2014, GRU issued $8,000,000 of Series D Notes to provide funds for the cost of 

acquisition and construction of certain improvements to the telecommunications system.  Interest is at a variable 

market rate of 2.24% at September 30, 2018.  Series D Notes of $8 million are outstanding as of September 30, 

2018.  These taxable notes are subordinated debt.  Liquidity support for the Series D Notes is provided under a 

long-term credit agreement effective August 28, 2014, with State Street Bank and Trust Company at 0.42% and 

expires August 28, 2020.   

 

 $25,000,000 Utilities System Variable Rate Subordinated Utilities System Revenue Bond, 2018 Series A – On 

May 17, 2018, City Commission authorized a revolving line of credit on parity with commercial paper notes to 

finance from time to time tax exempt projects for the capital improvement plan for the electric system.  The award 

of sale of purchase of the 2018 Series A Bond went to STI Institutional & Government, Inc. (SunTrust Bank), 

terms set forth in the purchase contract in the principal amount not to exceed $25,000,000.  The contract of 

purchase is effective on August 3, 2018 and expires August 3, 2021.  The interest rate is 81% of 1M Libor plus 

1.85% calculated on the basis of a 360 day year.  The unused fee (liquidity fee) is .25%.  As of September 30, 

2018, there was $0 outstanding. 

 

Business-Type Activities - Non-Utility Notes 

 

 $4,312,000 State Revolving Loan – Depot Park Remediation (FDEP) – In an agreement dated December 9, 

2004, FDEP issued the City a loan not to exceed $16,360,500 (including $360,500 of capitalized interest) for 

remediation of the Depot Park area for stormwater improvements.  The loan was amended on September 9, 

2008, to reduce the available principal from $16,000,000 to $4,312,000 as the Utility chose to withdraw from 

the program before drawing any funds.  The loan is made interest-free, but includes a 1.97% annual grant 

allocation assessment rate and a one-time 2% loan service fee.  Repayment began in September 2007 and will 

continue semi-annually until the balance is repaid.  Payable from non-ad valorem revenues, including 

stormwater fees.  The principal balance outstanding at September 30, 2018, was $1,279,626. 

 

 $1,500,000 Capital Improvement Revenue Note, 2009 (CIRN) – 5.15%, issued July 3, 2009, final maturity 

November 1, 2028, payable solely from non-ad valorem revenues.  Principal payable annually on November 1, 

beginning in fiscal year 2011, interest payable semi-annually beginning November 1, 2009.  This note also 

funded an additional $11.5 million of capital projects for governmental activities.   
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NOTE 8 – LONG-TERM DEBT AND CAPITAL LEASES  (Continued) 

 

Business-Type Activities - Non-Utility Notes (Concluded) 

 

 $1,313,093 Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2010 – 2.00% - 4.375%, issued July 13, 2010, final 

maturity October 2030, payable solely from non-ad valorem revenues.  Principal payable annually on October 

1, beginning 2011.  Interest payable semi-annually beginning October 1, 2010.  The bonds are not subject to 

redemption prior to maturity.  This note also funded an additional $3,036,907 of capital projects for 

governmental activities. 

 

 $2,000,000 Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2014 – 2.00% - 5.00%, issued December 17, 2014, 

final maturity October 2034, payable solely from non-ad valorem revenues.  Principal payable annually on 

October 1, beginning 2015.  Interest payable semi-annually beginning April 1, 2015.  The bonds are not subject 

to redemption prior to maturity.  This note also funded an additional $12,535,000 of capital projects for 

governmental activities.   

 

Debt Service Requirements for Long-Term Debt 

 

Annual debt service requirements to maturity for long-term debt are as follows: 

 

 
 

 

See Note 9 – Hedging Activities, for additional debt service requirements for interest rate swaps. 

 

The interest rates used in this table for variable rate debt are those in effect as of September 30, 2018 as described 

above for each individual issue.   

 

The Utility’s 2009 Series B and 2010 Series B Bonds receive a federal interest subsidy of 32.7% of the annual 

interest expense and are assumed to remain at said rate for the duration of the bonds.  The subsidy is recorded as 

non-operating revenue on the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position. 

 

 

Year Ending

September 30, Principal Interest Principal Interest

2019 7,002,113$            7,110,242$        28,275,355$          52,841,153$          

2020 7,390,565              7,174,196          31,314,663            52,371,392            

2021 7,768,791              7,241,351          40,024,216            51,292,856            

2022 7,748,694              7,297,689          40,366,455            49,835,720            

2023 7,492,977              7,365,428          42,174,877            48,273,711            

2024-2028 38,342,984            34,227,579        242,555,103          216,322,507          

2029-2033 46,496,181            6,591,097          309,108,820          166,649,929          

2034-2038 3,415,024              207,211             341,494,193          112,059,295          

2039-2043 -                            -                         345,505,000          48,329,359            

2044-2048 -                            -                         205,930,000          13,842,263            

2049 -                            -                         5,575,000              47,109                   

Total 125,657,329$        77,214,793$      1,632,323,682$     811,865,294$        

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities
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NOTE 8 – LONG-TERM DEBT AND CAPITAL LEASES  (Continued) 

 

Debt Service Requirements for Long-Term Debt (Concluded) 

 

For GRU’s utilities system variable rate demand obligations (VRDO), support is provided in connection with 

tenders for purchase with various liquidity providers pursuant to standby bond purchase agreements (SBPA) or 

credit agreements relating to that series of obligation.  The purchase price of the obligations tendered or deemed 

tendered for purchase is payable solely from the proceeds of the remarketing thereof and moneys drawn under the 

applicable SBPA or credit agreement.  The current stated termination dates of the SBPA and credit agreements 

range from June 29, 2020 to November 30, 2021.  Each of the SBPA and credit agreement termination dates may be 

extended.  At September 30, 2018, there were no outstanding draws under the SBPA.  Available credits including 

interest, under each VRDO are as follows:  $26,535,389 for 2005 Series C, $18,627,894 for 2006 Series A, 

$138,161,093 for 2007 Series A, $90,065,206 for 2008 Series B, and $101,659,125 for 2012 Series B. 

 

GRU has entered into revolving credit agreements with commercial banks to provide liquidity support for its 

commercial paper notes.  If funds are not available to pay the principal of any maturing commercial paper notes 

during the term of the credit agreement, GRU is entitled to make a borrowing under the credit agreement.  The 

termination dates of the credit agreements, as of September 30, 2018, are November 30, 2021 and August 28, 2020.  

The credit agreement supporting the tax-exempt Commercial Paper Notes, Series C had no outstanding draws as of 

September 30, 2018.  The credit agreement supporting the taxable Commercial Paper Notes, Series D had no 

outstanding draws as of September 30, 2018. 

 

Capital Leases 

 

 Siemens Buildings Technologies, GPD Energy Project Capital Lease – This lease had an initial value of 

$942,136 and an interest rate of 4.18%, with lease payments due monthly for 144 months, beginning October 

10, 2006.  The lease will be repaid using non-ad valorem revenues, and it is expected that the building 

improvements being leased will result in energy savings equal to or greater than the lease payments. These 

assets are being amortized as part of depreciation expense.  The principal portion of the capital lease was paid in 

full during fiscal year 2018. 

 

 Gainesville Renewable Energy Center Capital Lease – GRU executed a PPA with the Gainesville Renewable 

Energy Center (GREC) in 2009.  The plant, a 102.5 megawatt biomass-fired power production facility located 

in Alachua County, Florida, utilizes woody biomass comprised of urban wood waste, forest wood waste, and 

mill residue.  The nature of these are further limited by Forest Sustainability Standards that were included as 

part of the PPA.  The PPA required that GREC provide available energy, delivered energy, and environmental 

attributes exclusively to GRU and began commercial operations on December 17, 2013.  GRU was required to 

pay for all available energy from the plant at fixed prices, adjusted for liquidated damages and other penalties.  

GRU was also required to pay a variable operations and maintenance charge for all delivered energy, a fuel 

charge for all delivered energy, a shutdown charge as applicable and ad valorem taxes paid by GREC. 

 

During November of 2017, GRU purchased the plant and terminated the PPA and capital lease.  The PPA was 

accounted for as a long-term capital lease for a term of 30 years with a capital lease asset and liability recorded.  

The capital lease asset was recorded at $0 at September 30, 2018.  The total payments applicable to the lease 

were $6,291,676 for September 30, 2018.  The payments for fiscal year 2018 included $4,351,741 for interest 

expense included in fuel costs.  The capital lease was being amortized over the life of the PPA.  Amortization of 

$3,449,252 was recorded at September 30, 2018. Due to the termination of the PPA, there were no minimum 

payments due as of September 30, 2018. 
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NOTE 8 – LONG-TERM DEBT AND CAPITAL LEASES  (Concluded) 
 

Pledged Revenues 
 

The 1994 and 2004 Guaranteed Entitlement Revenue and Refunding Bonds were issued to refund multiple prior 

issues and to fund road and building construction and repair projects.  Both issues are secured by a lien upon and 

pledge of the City’s Guaranteed Entitlement Funds.  The remaining principal and interest payments on these bonds 

at September 30, 2018 total $6,570,000, payable semiannually through July 1, 2024.  Pledged revenue was 

$1,095,000 for fiscal year 2018, which was 100% of the annual debt requirement.   

 

Under the terms of the Resolution relating to the sale of the Utilities System Revenue Bonds, payment of the 

principal and interest is secured by an irrevocable lien on GRU’s net revenue (exclusive of any funds that may be 

established pursuant to the Resolution for certain other specified purposes), including any investments and income 

thereof.  The Utilities System Revenue Bonds have a first lien and the Commercial Paper Series C and D Notes have 

a second lien.  For fiscal year 2018, principal and interest paid was $90,095,336 and total pledged revenues was 

$403,510,310.  As of September 30, 2018, annual principal and interest payments are expected to require 20% of 

pledged revenues on average. 

 

The Resolution contains certain restrictions and commitments, including GRU’s covenant to establish and maintain 

rates and other charges to produce revenue sufficient to pay operation and maintenance expenses, amounts required 

for deposit in the debt service account, and amounts required for deposit in the utility plant improvement account. 

 

Changes in Long-Term Liabilities  
 

Long-term liability activity for the year ended September 30, 2018, was as follows:  

 

 
 

Typically, the general fund has been used in prior years to liquidate the liability for compensated absences. 
 

 

Beginning Ending Due within

Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year

Governmental Activities

Bonds Payable:

Revenue bonds and loans 14,899,032$         -$                          (854,040)$             14,044,992$         867,527$             

Bond premium 863,345                -                            (93,685)                 769,660                -                          

Pension obligation bonds 72,864,045           -                            (3,343,168)            69,520,877           1,950,400            

Less deferred amounts:

For issuance discounts (9,816)                   -                            768                       (9,048)                   -                          

Total bond payable 88,616,606           -                            (4,290,125)            84,326,481           2,817,927            

Capital lease 78,141                  -                            (78,141)                 -                            

Revenue note 35,650,967           10,365,000           (3,924,507)            42,091,460           4,184,186            

Compensated absences 3,941,453             4,941,132             (5,483,084)            3,399,501             130,999               

Total 128,287,167$       15,306,132$         (13,775,857)$        129,817,442$       7,133,112$          

Beginning Ending Due within

Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year

Business-Type Activities

Bonds payable:

Utility revenue bonds 871,540,000$       680,920,000$       (18,120,000)$        1,534,340,000$    27,885,000$        

Add:  Issuance premiums 16,902,387           73,205,458           (6,349,460)            83,758,385           -                          

Total bonds payable 888,442,387         754,125,458         (24,469,460)          1,618,098,385      27,885,000          

Utility notes payable 58,900,000           40,000,000           (5,900,000)            93,000,000           -                          

Capital lease 941,269,071         -                            (941,269,071)        -                            -                          

Other notes payable 5,354,397             -                            (370,715)               4,983,682             390,355               

Compensated absences 5,621,262             1,474,370             (1,912,537)            5,183,095             733,171               

Total 1,899,587,117$    795,599,828$       (973,921,783)$      1,721,265,162$    29,008,526$        
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NOTE 9 – HEDGING ACTIVITIES  

Interest Rate Hedges 

 

The Utility is a party to certain interest rate swap agreements to protect against the potential of rising interest rates.  

Under its interest rate swap programs, the Utility either pays a variable rate of interest, which is based on various 

indices, and receives a fixed rate of interest for a specific period of time (unless earlier terminated), or the Utility 

pays a fixed rate of interest and receives a variable rate of interest, which is based on various indices for a specified 

period of time (unless earlier terminated).  These indices are affected by changes in the market.  The net amounts 

received or paid under the swap agreements are recorded as an adjustment to interest on debt in the Statements of 

Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position and the Statement of Activities.  No money is initially 

exchanged when the Utility enters into a new interest rate swap transaction. 

 

Terms, Fair Values, and Counterparty Credit Ratings – The terms, fair values, and counterparty credit ratings of the 

outstanding swaps as of September 30, 2018, were as follows:  

 

  

 
 

 

 
* See “Basis Risk” section below for details. 

 

 

Associated Bond Issue 2005B* 2005C* 2006A* 2007A*

Notional amounts 25,230,000$     26,225,000$     23,375,000$     136,545,000$   

Effective date 11/16/2005 11/16/2005 7/6/2006 3/1/2007

Fixed payer rate SIFMA 3.200% 3.224% 3.944%

Variable receiver rate

77.14% of 

1MO LIBOR

60.36% of 

10YR LIBOR

68.00% of 

10YR LIBOR 

Less 0.3635% SIFMA

Fair value 77,683$            (938,709)$         (1,013,757)$      (24,513,913)$    

Termination date 10/1/2021 10/1/2026 10/1/2026 10/1/2036

Counterparty credit rating Aa2/AA- Aa3/A+/AA- Aa2/AA- Aa2/AA-

Associated Bond Issue 2008B* 2008B* 2017B* 2017B*

Notional amounts 58,500,000$     31,500,000$     105,000,000$   45,000,000$     

Effective date 2/13/2008 2/13/2008 11/7/2017 11/7/2017

Fixed payer rate 4.229% 4.229% 2.119% 2.110%

Variable receiver rate SIFMA SIFMA

70.00% of 

1MO LIBOR

70.00% of 

1MO LIBOR

Fair value (11,249,169)$    (6,063,425)$      3,419,417$       1,516,588$       

Termination date 10/1/2038 10/1/2038 10/1/2044 10/1/2044

Counterparty credit rating Aa3/A+/AA Aa3/A+/AA A1/A+/A+ A1/A+/A+
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NOTE 9 – HEDGING ACTIVITIES  (Continued) 

Interest Rate Hedges (Continued) 

Fair Value – All of the swap agreements, except for the 2005B and 2017B swaps, had a negative fair value as of 

September 30, 2018.  As the interest rate environment has risen over the past year, the negative fair value of the 

swap agreements has improved. Due to the lower interest rate environment, as compared to the period when the 

swaps were entered into, the fixed payer rates currently exceed the variable receiver rates:  

 

 

 
 

Interest Rate Swap Payments – Debt service requirements on the interest rate swaps using interest rates in effect at 

September 30, 2018, would be as follows:  

 

 
 
Credit Risk – As of September 30, 2018, although most of the fair value of the interest rate swaps was negative, 

GRU has structured its swap documents to minimize credit risk.  To mitigate the potential for credit risk, GRU has 

negotiated additional termination event and collateralization requirements in the event of a ratings downgrade.  

Failure to deliver the Collateral Agreement to GRU as negotiated and detailed in the Schedule to the International 

Swaps and Derivative Agreements (ISDA) master agreement for each counterparty would constitute an event of 

default with respect to that counterparty. 

 

Changes in

Fair Value of Regulatory

Interest Rate Changes in (Assets)

Swaps at Changes in Deferred Liability for  

September 30, Fair (Inflow) Ineffective

2018 Value Outflow Instruments

2005B  $               77,683  $             45,293  $                      -  $           (45,293)

2005C                (938,709)              741,679                          -             (741,679)

2006A             (1,013,757)              800,851                          -             (800,851)

2008B           (11,249,169)           4,047,671          (4,047,671)                          - 

2008B             (6,063,425)           2,180,720          (2,180,720)                          - 

2007A           (24,513,913)           9,546,595          (9,549,595)                          - 

2017B              3,419,416            3,419,416          (3,419,416)                          - 

2017B              1,516,588            1,516,588          (1,516,588)                          - 

 $       (38,765,286) $      22,298,813  $    (20,713,990)  $      (1,587,823)

Year Ending Swap

September 30, Interest

2019 7,010,503$           

2020 6,913,376             

2021 6,780,368             

2022 6,631,034             

2023 6,448,221             

2024–2028 28,425,054           

2029–2033 21,039,974           

2034–2038 8,385,385             

2039–2043 3,089,112             

2044–2048 145,517                

Total 94,868,544$         
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NOTE 9 – HEDGING ACTIVITIES  (Continued) 

Interest Rate Hedges (Concluded) 

Basis Risk – The swaps expose the City to basis risk as follows: 

 

 The 2005 Series B swap is exposed to basis risk through the potential mismatch of 77.14% of one-month 

LIBRO and SIFMA rate.  As a result, savings may not be realized.  As of September 30, 2018, the one-month 

LIBOR rate was 2.26% and SIFMA rate was at 1.56%, which places the SIFMA at approximately 69% of one-

month LIBOR at that date. 

 

 The 2005 Series C swap is exposed to basis risk through the potential mismatch of 60.36% of 10-year LIBOR 

and the variable 31-day rollover rate.  As a result, savings may not be realized.  As of September 30, 2018, the 

10-year LIBOR rate was at 3.11%. 
 

 The 2006 Series A swap is exposed to basis risk through the potential mismatch of 68% of 10-year LIBOR less 

0.36% and the variable 31-day rollover rate.  As a result, savings may not be realized.  
 

 The 2007 Series A and the 2008 Series B swaps are exposed to the difference between SIFMA and the variable 

31-day rollover rate. 
 

 The 2017 Series B swap is exposed to the difference between 70% of the one-month LIBOR and 70% of the 

one-month LIBOR plus bank fee times the margin rate factor (corporate tax change from 35% to 21%, 

effective with the Tax Reform in January 1, 2018).  As a result, savings may not be realized. 
 

 The Commercial Paper Series C Notes swap (formerly the 2002 Series A swap) terminated October 1, 2018. 

 

Termination Risk – The swap agreement will be terminated at any time if certain events occur that result in one party 

not performing in accordance with the agreement.  The swap can be terminated due to illegality, a credit event upon 

merger, an event of default, or if credit ratings fall below established levels. 

 

Interest Rate Risk – This risk is associated with the changes in interest rates that will adversely affect the fair values 

of GRU’s swaps and derivatives.  GRU mitigates this risk by actively reviewing and negotiating its swap 

agreements. 

 

Rollover Risk – GRU is exposed to this risk when its interest rates swap agreements mature or terminate prior to the 

maturity of the hedged debt.  When the counterparty to the interest rate swap agreements chooses to terminate early, 

GRU will be re-exposed to the rollover risk.  Currently, there is no early termination option being exercised by any 

of GRU’s interest rate swap counterparties. 

 

Market Access Risk – This risk is associated with the event that GRU will not be able to enter credit markets for 

interest rate swap agreements or that the credit market becomes more costly.  GRU maintains a strong credit rating 

of Aa3 from Moody’s, AA- from Standard and Poor’s, and AA- from Fitch Ratings.  Currently GRU has not 

encountered any credit market barriers. 

 

Effectiveness – Of the interest rate swap agreements, four have been determined to be effective, while three have 

been deemed ineffective as of September 30, 2018.  The ineffective portion related to interest rate swap agreements 

is recorded as a regulatory asset for $1,874,783 as of September 30, 2018. 

 

The unrealized loss on interest rate swap agreements of $22,418,793 has been recorded in accumulated decrease in 

fair value of hedging derivatives at September 30, 2018.  There were no realized gains or losses related to interest 

rate swaps as of September 30, 2018. 
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NOTE 9 – HEDGING ACTIVITIES  (Concluded) 

 

Fuel Hedges  

 

GRU utilizes commodity price swap contracts to hedge the effects of fluctuations in the prices for natural gas.  

These transactions meet the requirements of GASB Statement No. 53.  Realized losses related to gas hedging 

positions were recorded as an addition to fuel costs of $188,687 for September 30, 2018.  Unrealized gains and 

losses related to gas hedging agreements are deferred in a regulatory account and recognized in earnings as fuel 

costs are incurred.  All fuel hedges have been determined to be effective. 

 

The information below provides a summary of results based on GRU’s risk management activity for fiscal year 2018. 
        

     Fair Value of           

     Cash Flow      Deferred    

     Hedges at   Changes   (Inflow)/    Notional 

    September 30,  in Fair    Outflow    Amount 

     2018   Value   of Resources   (MMBTU’s)  

 Natural Gas $ - $ (62,061) $ - $ - 

 

 

NOTE 10 – CAPITAL ASSETS 

 

Capital asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2018, was as follows:  

 

 
 

 

 

Beginning Ending

Balance Increases Decreases Balance

Governmental Activities

Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Land 33,992,083$       2,231,219$         (438,156)$           35,785,146$      

Construction in progress 10,727,859         22,055,710         (1,840,081)          30,943,488        

Total Capital assets, not being depreciated 44,719,942         24,286,929         (2,278,237)          66,728,634        

Capital assets, being depreciated:

Buildings 79,680,940         10,568,965         (35,584)               90,214,321        

Improvements other than buildings 24,700,609         818,310              (264,069)             25,254,850        

 Machinery and equipment 52,820,860         6,075,015           (2,648,629)          56,247,246        

Infrastructure 230,360,076       -                         -                          230,360,076      

Total capital assets, being depreciated 387,562,485       17,462,290         (2,948,282)          402,076,493      

Less accumulated depreciation:

Buildings (30,958,778)       (2,345,580)         38,106                (33,266,252)       

Improvements other than buildings (9,167,820)         (1,395,540)         246,916              (10,316,444)       

Machinery and equipment (37,293,211)       (4,117,748)         2,375,846           (39,035,113)       

Infrastructure (121,779,634)     (4,715,794)         -                          (126,495,428)     

Total accumulated depreciation (199,199,443)     (12,574,662)       2,660,868           (209,113,237)     

Total Capital assets being depreciated, net 188,363,042       4,887,628           (287,414)             192,963,256      

Governmental Activities Capital

Assets, Net 233,082,984$     29,174,557$       (2,565,651)$        259,691,890$    
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NOTE 10 – CAPITAL ASSETS  (Concluded) 

 

 
Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows: 

 

Governmental Activities 

 General government $ 947,658 

 Public safety  1,840,074 

 Transportation  5,133,474 

 Culture and recreation  2,069,140 

 Depreciation on capital asset held by the City’s internal service 

  funds is charged to the various functions based on their 

  usage of the assets  2,584,316 

Total $ 12,574,662 

 

Business-Type Activities 

 Utility  $ 93,939,019 

 Regional transit system  5,367,676 

 Stormwater  1,538,860 

 Ironwood  173,475 

 Florida building code enforcement  5,895 

 Solid waste  18,982 

Total $ 101,043,907 

 

For the Utility, the average depreciation rate was 3.60% for utility plant and equipment for fiscal year 2018. 

Beginning Ending

Balance Increases Decreases Balance

Business-Type Activities

Capital Assets, not being depreciated:

Land 9,466,133$          $                       -  $            (81,257)  $        9,384,876 

Construction in progress 93,930,799                823,050,048 (814,729,244)      102,251,603      

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 103,396,932       823,050,048       (814,810,501)      111,636,479      

Capital assets, being depreciated:

Utility plant and equipment 1,994,737,339    813,916,276       (14,074,012)        2,794,579,603   

Utility plant and equipment - capital lease 1,006,808,995    -                         (1,006,808,995)   -                         

Buildings 46,048,194         22,171                (46,423)               46,023,942        

Improvements other than buildings 5,675,782           821,236              -                          6,497,018          

Machinery and equipment 48,191,167         7,158,952           (3,426,118)          51,924,001        

Infrastructure 52,892,676         -                         -                          52,892,676        

Total capital assets, being depreciated 3,154,354,153    821,918,635       (1,024,355,548)   2,951,917,240   

Less accumulated depreciation:

Utility plant and equipment (restated) (883,788,096) (90,489,767)   6,053,514       (968,224,349)     

Utility plant and equipment - capital lease (127,114,117) (3,449,252)     130,563,369   -                         

Buildings (6,545,087)     (1,269,466)     35,437            (7,779,116)         

Improvements other than buildings (3,134,807)         (1,010,839)         -                          (4,145,646)         

Machinery and equipment (30,744,459)       (4,326,824)         3,418,525           (31,652,758)       

Infrastructure (21,291,999)       (497,759)            -                          (21,789,758)       

Total accumulated depreciation (1,072,618,565)  (101,043,907)     140,070,845       (1,033,591,627)  

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 2,081,735,588    720,874,728       (884,284,703)      1,918,325,613   

Business-Type Activities Capital Assets, Net 2,185,132,520$  1,543,924,776$  (1,699,095,204)$ 2,029,962,092$ 
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NOTE 11 - INDIVIDUAL FUND DEFICITS   
 

The following funds had deficit net position or fund balances as of September 30, 2018: 

 

 Special Revenue Funds 

  Community Development Block Grant $ (162,784) 

  Urban Development Action Grant  (6,581) 

  Home Grant  (426,368) 

  Police Billable Overtime  (413,788) 

  Community Redevelopment Agency  (579,873) 

  School Crossing Guard  (14,672) 

  Art in Public Places  (9,208) 

 Capital Projects Funds 

  Downtown Parking Garage Sales Tax  (6) 

  CIRN 2009 Capital Projects Fund  (539) 

 Enterprise Fund 

  Ironwood Golf Course  (518,425) 

 

The Community Development Block Grant, Urban Development Action Grant, and Home Grant funds have 

negative balance due to incurring expenditures prior to receiving funding.  Management anticipates receiving 

funding to recover these costs. 

 

The Police Billable Overtime fund has a negative balance because the invoicing for all the police billable overtime 

was not sufficient to cover the cost.  Management will evaluate the rate which is being charged and increase rates or 

subsidize any shortages in the future through the general fund. 

 

The Community Redevelopment Agency fund has a negative fund balance due to long term advances from the 

general fund for redevelopment projects.  These advances are described in more detail in Note 11. 

 

The Art in Public Places fund’s negative fund balance resulted from expenditures for 352Walls Initiative with 

funding coming from the Tax Increment Funds in fiscal year 2019. 

 

The Downtown Parking Garage Sales Tax fund has a negative balance due to investment losses for fiscal year 2018. 

In fiscal year 2019, a transfer from other funds will cover the deficit.  

 

The Capital Improvement Revenue Note 2009 CIP fund has a negative balance due to capital project expenditures 

were spent after the fund was closed down due to refinancing.  The fund will be receiving funds from the General 

Fund to close out this fund in fiscal year 2019. 

 

The Ironwood Golf Course fund has reported expenses in excess of revenues for several years, which has depleted 

the fund’s net position.  Management has implemented a variety of cost saving plans, including significantly 

reducing expenses for the clubhouse and pro shop.  In 2006, a capital improvement surcharge was added to each 

round of play, which is expected to generate restricted revenues for long-term capital maintenance and additions.  

The City is currently implementing a plan to reverse the ongoing deficits which included major capital 

improvements in fiscal year 2010 and changes in the rate structures.  In addition, during 2010, the City began a ten-

year series of transfers from the general fund to fully fund the deficit balance.  In fiscal year 2020, the City plans to 

incorporate Ironwood Golf Course into the general fund as a part of the Parks, Recreation, and Cultural Affairs 

Department.  
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NOTE 12 – COMPOSITION OF RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES  

 

Receivables at year-end, including allowances for doubtful accounts, for governmental and business-type activities 

are as follow: 

 
 

Accounts payable and other liabilities at year-end consist of the following: 

 

 
 

NOTE 13 – INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES , ADVANCES AND TRANSFERS 

 

Due to/from other funds 

 

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities

Non-Major Internal Non-Major Business-

General Governmental Service Governmental Utility Enterprise Type

Fund Funds Funds Activities Fund Funds Activities

Accounts Receivable, Gross 1,881,910$ 466,721$       3,507$        2,352,138$   60,777,899$ 6,924,489$      67,702,388$    

Allowance (628,800)     -                    -                 (628,800)      (800,551)       (30,065)           (830,616)         

Net, Accounts Receivable 1,253,110   466,721         3,507          1,723,338     59,977,348   6,894,424        66,871,772      

Utility Tax Receivable 1,116,568   -                    1,116,568     -                    -                      -                      

Assessments Receivable -                  2,611             -                 2,611            -                    -                      -                      

Due from Other Governments 1,421,667   2,441,378      -                 3,863,045     -                    3,241,439        3,241,439        

Due from Employees 10,987        -                 10,987          -                    -                      -                      

Notes Receivable -                  61,227           -                 61,227          -                    -                      -                      

Other 1,752          31,989           -                 33,741          -                    1,396               1,396               

Total Receivables 3,804,084$ 3,003,926$    3,507$        6,811,517$   59,977,348$ 10,137,259$    70,114,607$    

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities

Non-Major Internal Non-Major Business-

General Governmental Service Governmental Utility Enterprise Type

Fund Funds Funds Activities Fund Funds Activities

Accounts Payable 2,075,910$ 5,149,317$    648,090$    7,873,317$   15,299,930$ 3,545,001$      18,844,931$    

Fuels Payable -                  -                    -                 -                   4,769,484     -                      4,769,484        

Retainage -                  988,945         -                 988,945        -                    28,155             28,155             

Payroll and Related Liabilities 2,233,616   23,911           64,333        2,321,860     -                    439,085           439,085           

Insurance Claims and Reserves -                  -                    8,258,234   8,258,234     -                    -                      -                      

Due to Other Governments 17,188        5,615             -                 22,803          -                    6,184               6,184               

Deposits 737,956      126,572         -                 864,528        -                    -                      -                      

Assets Held in Evidence -                  670,492         -                 670,492        -                    -                      -                      

Other 11,703        779                -                 12,482          -                    -                      -                      

Total Accounts Payable and 

Accrued Liabilities 5,076,373$ 6,965,631$    8,970,657$ 21,012,661$ 20,069,414$ 4,018,425$      24,087,839$    

Due from

Non-Major Internal Non-Major

General Utility Governmental Service Enterprise Total

Due to

General -$                    3,236,467$      2,319,270$      -$                    10,897,397$    16,453,134$    

Utility -                      -                      579,787           -                      1,486,033        2,065,820        

Non-major governmental -                      25,688             -                      -                      -                      25,688             

Internal service -                      706,818           -                      -                      -                      706,818           

Non-major enterprise -                      109,836           -                      -                      -                      109,836           

Total -$                    4,078,809$      2,899,057$      -$                    12,383,430$    19,361,296$    
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NOTE 13 – INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES, ADVANCES AND TRANSFERS  (Continued) 

 

Due to/from other funds (Continued) 

 

The $10,897,397 interfund payable from non-major enterprise funds to the general fund resulted from Ironwood and 

Regional Transit overdrawing their share of the pooled cash account.  The $3,915,607 due to the general fund from 

non-major governmental funds is composed of a $2,319,270 interfund payable resulting from certain funds 

overdrawing their share of the pooled cash account, and $1,596,337 of advances to the CRA as further described 

below.  All remaining balances resulted from the time lag between the dates that (1) interfund good and services are 

provided or reimbursable expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and (3) 

payments between funds are made.    

 

Advances to/from other funds 

The Advance to Other Funds balance in the General Fund and the Advance from Other Funds in the Non-Major 

Governmental Funds resulted from various notes between the City and the Community Redevelopment Agency 

(CRA) blended component unit for various projects within the four CRA districts.  A description of each note is 

listed below: 

 

 $836,900 Commerce Building/AMJ Project, Downtown Promissory Note – 1.05% to 4.28% fixed annual 

interest rate.  In September 1999, a promissory note payable was established from the City to CRA to be repaid 

from tax increment proceeds associated with the Commerce Building project.  In July 2004, the note was 

amended to specify that repayment will be from all tax increment proceeds from the Downtown Redevelopment 

Area.  The final repayment is scheduled for January 2020. 

 

 $434,955 The Lofts (Old Stringfellow) – 609 West University Avenue, College Park Promissory Note – 

1.57% to 4.96% fixed annual interest rate.  In April 2001, a promissory note payable was established from the 

City to CRA to be repaid from tax increment proceeds.  In October 2004, the note was amended for the 

redevelopment of the area known as The Lofts.  The final repayment is scheduled for November 2024.   

 

 $650,000 Fifth Avenue/Pleasant Street Projects, Fifth Avenue/Pleasant Street Promissory Note – 6.72% 

fixed annual interest rate.  In April 2002, a promissory note payable was established from the City to CRA to be 

repaid from tax increment proceeds.  The final repayment is scheduled for July 2022. 

 

 $1,400,600 Courthouse Parking Facility Project, Downtown Promissory Note – 6.72% fixed annual interest 

rate.  In April 2002, a promissory note payable was established from the City to CRA to be repaid from tax 

increment proceeds.  The final repayment is scheduled for July 2024. 

 

 $300,000 Eastside District Redevelopment Trust Promissory Note – 4.5% to 6.2% fixed annual interest rate.  

In May 2005, a promissory note payable was established from the City to CRA to be repaid from tax increment 

proceeds.  The final repayment is scheduled for July 2025. 

 

 $800,000 College Park / 2nd Avenue Redevelopment Trust, College Park Promissory Note – 4.5% to 6.2% 

fixed annual interest rate.  In May 2005, a promissory note payable was established from the City to CRA to be 

repaid from tax increment proceeds.  The final repayment is scheduled for July 2025. 
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NOTE 13 – INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES, ADVANCES AND TRANSFERS  (Concluded) 

 

Due to/from other funds (Concluded) 

 

Following is the repayment schedule of advances from the City’s General Fund to the CRA: 
 

 Fiscal Year Ending   Advances from General Fund to CRA  

 September 30,   Principal    Interest   Total  

 2019 $ 305,917 $ 70,512 $ 376,429 

 2020  292,270  57,600  349,870 

 2021  230,756  56,245  287,001 

 2022  243,278  34,877  278,155 

 2023  203,719  23,404  227,123

 2024-25  320,397  18,019  338,416 

 Total $ 1,596,337 $ 260,657 $ 1,856,994 

 

Interfund transfers  
 

 
 

The Utility transfer totaling $36,379,080 to the General Fund is based on a formula adopted by the City Commission 

(see Note 14 for additional detail).  $10,432,325 was transferred from the General Fund to Debt Service Funds for 

scheduled debt service payments.  Other interfund transfers were made in the normal course of operations and are 

consistent with the activities of the fund making the transfer. 

 

NOTE 14 - UTILITY FUND TRANSFERS TO GENERAL FUND 

 

GRU transfers monies monthly to the City’s general fund that are historically based on a predefined formula that 

predominantly tied the transfer directly to the Utility’s revenue generation.  The transfer to the general fund may be 

made only to the extent such monies are not necessary to pay operating and maintenance expense and to pay debt 

service on the outstanding bonds and subordinated debt or to make other necessary transfers under the Bond 

Resolution.   

 

Effective for fiscal year 2015, the City Commission approved a change to the transfer formula.  This new transfer 

formula contains the following components: 

 

 A new base equal to the fiscal year 2014 General Fund Transfer (GFT) level that would have been produced 

under the formula methodology that was in place from fiscal years 2001 through 2010. 
 
 Growth of the base by 1.5% per year for fiscal years 2016 through 2019. 

 
 Reduction of this amount by an amount equal to the property tax revenue that the City receives related to the 

GREC Biomass Facility. 
 

The transfer to the General Fund for the year ended September 30, 2018, was $36,379,080. 

Non-Major Internal Non-Major

General Utility Governmental Service Enterprise Total

Transfers to

General -$                    36,379,080$    398,710$         -$                    375,915$         37,153,705$    

Non-Major governmental 21,861,094      -                      13,622,580      84,500             2,383,358        37,951,532      

Internal service 57,735             -                      -                      -                      -                      57,735             

Non-Major enterprise 1,447,294        -                      445,374           -                      -                      1,892,668        

Total 23,366,123$    36,379,080$    14,466,664$    84,500$           2,759,273$      77,055,640$    

Transfers from
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NOTE 15 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  

 

Legal cases arise in the normal course of operations but there were none that were significant for individual 

disclosure, except as noted below. 

 

General Utility  

 

The primary factors currently affecting the utility industry include environmental regulations, Operating, Planning 

and Critical Infrastructure Protection Standards promulgated by NERC under FERC jurisdiction, and the increasing 

strategic and price differences among various types of fuels.  No state or federal legislation is pending or proposed at 

this time for retail competition in Florida. 

 

The role of municipalities as telecommunications providers pursuant to the 1996 Federal Telecommunications Act 

resulted in a number of state-level legislative initiatives across the nation to curtail this activity.  In Florida, this 

issue culminated in the passage, in 2005, of legislation codified in Section 350.81, Florida Statutes (Section 350.81) 

that defined the conditions under which municipalities are allowed to provide retail telecommunications services.  

Although GRU has special status as a grandfathered entity under this legislation, the provision of certain additional 

retail telecommunications services by the Utility would implicate certain requirements of Section 350.81.  

Management does not expect that any required compliance with the requirements of Section 350.81 would have a 

material adverse effect on the operations or financial condition of GRUCom. 

 

Environmental and Other Natural Resource Regulations 

 

GRU and its operations are subject to federal, state and local environmental regulations which include, among other 

things, control of emissions of particulates, mercury, acid gases, SO2 and NOX into the air; discharges of pollutants, 

including heat, into surface or ground water; the disposal of wastes and reuse of products generated by wastewater 

treatment and combustion processes; management of hazardous materials; and the nature of waste materials 

discharged into the wastewater system’s collection facilities.  Environmental regulations generally are becoming 

more numerous and more stringent and, as a result, may substantially increase the costs of the Utility’s services by 

requiring changes in the operation of existing facilities as well as changes in the location, design, construction, and 

operation of new facilities (including both facilities that are owned and operated by GRU as well as facilities that are 

owned and operated by others, from which the Utility purchases output, services, commodities and other materials). 

There is no assurance that the facilities in operation, under construction, or contemplated will always remain subject 

to the regulations currently in effect or will always be in compliance with future regulations.  Compliance with 

applicable regulations could result in increases in the costs of construction and/or operation of affected facilities, 

including associated costs such as transmission and transportation, as well as limitations on the operation of such 

facilities.  Failure to comply with regulatory requirements could result in reduced operating levels or the complete 

shutdown of those facilities not in compliance as well as the imposition of civil and criminal penalties. 

 

Increasing concerns about climate change and the effects of greenhouse gases (GHG) on the environment have resulted 

in EPA finalizing on August 3, 2015, carbon regulations for existing power plants.  Currently, the Clean Power Plan is 

being litigated and on August 10, 2017, the United States Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit issued an order holding 

the challenges to the greenhouse gas new source performance standards (GHG NSPS) in abeyance “pending further 

order of the court.”  The order also directs EPA to file status reports at 90-day intervals beginning October 27, 2017. 

 

Further litigation is expected regardless of the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals decision.  In addition, the EPA has 

been given presidential direction to review the Clean Power Plan (CPP).  The court has also ordered the parties to 

file supplemental briefs addressing whether the challenges should be remanded to the EPA rather than held in 

abeyance.  The briefs were filed on May 15, 2017.  On October 10, 2017, EPA proposed to repeal the CPP.  The 

Whitehouse OMB received the EPA’s proposal to replace the CPP on July 9, 2018.  Then on August 21, 2018, EPA 

proposed the Affordable Clean Energy (ACE) plan as a replacement to the CPP.  It is currently under review. 
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NOTE 15 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  (Continued) 

 

Internal Combustion Engine MACT 

 

On August 20, 2010, the EPA published a final rule for the National Emissions Standards for Hazardous Air 

Pollutants for Reciprocating Internal Combustion Engines, which covers existing stationary spark ignition 

reciprocating internal combustion engines located at major sources of hazardous air pollutant emissions such as 

power plant sites.  This final rule, which became effective on October 19, 2010, requires the reduction of emissions 

of hazardous air pollutants from covered engines.  Several of GRU’s reciprocating engines are covered by this new 

rule and all are in full compliance. 

 

Climate Change 

 

On June 25, 2013, President Obama issued a Presidential Memorandum directing the EPA to work expeditiously to 

complete GHG standards for the power sector.  The agency is using its authority under section 111(d) of the Clean Air 

Act to issue emission guidelines to address GHG emissions from existing power plants.  The Presidential Memorandum 

specifically directed the EPA to build on state leadership, provide flexibility and take advantage of a wide range of 

energy sources and technologies towards building a cleaner power sector.  It also directed the EPA to issue proposed 

GHG standards, regulations, or guidelines, as appropriate for existing power plants by no later than June 1, 2014 and 

issue final GHG standards, regulations, or guidelines, as appropriate by no later than June 1, 2015.  In addition, the 

Presidential Memorandum directed the EPA to include in the guidelines addressing existing power plants, a 

requirement that states submit to the EPA the implementation plans required under section 111(d) of the Clean Air Act 

and its implementing regulations by no later than June 30, 2016.  States would be able to request more time to submit 

complete implementation plans with the EPA being able to allow states until June 30, 2017 or June 30, 2018, as 

appropriate, to submit additional information completing the submitted plan no later than June 30, 2016. 

 

Accordingly, on June 2, 2014, EPA released a proposed rule, the Clean Power Plan Rule, that would limit and 

reduce carbon dioxide emissions from certain fossil fuel power plants, including existing plants.  Finally, on 

August 3, 2015, EPA released the final version of  such rule, and on October 23, 2015 the EPA published in the 

Federal Register the GHG existing source performance standards for power plants (the “Clean Power Plan”), and 

the final NSPS for GHG emissions from new, modified and reconstructed fossil fuel-fired power plants.  The 

final Clean Power Plan was published at 80 Fed.  Reg. 64662, and the final GHG NSPS were published at 80 

Fed.  Reg. 64510. 

 

On October 23, 2015, the American Public Power Association (APPA) and the Utility Air Regulatory Group 

(UARG) filed a joint petition for review of the EPA’s final Section 111(d) rule to regulate carbon dioxide (CO2) 

emissions from existing electric generating sources in the D.C. Circuit Court.  In addition, the state of West Virginia 

joined by Texas, Alabama, Arkansas, Colorado, Florida, Georgia, Indiana, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Michigan, 

Missouri, Montana, Nebraska, New Jersey, Ohio, South Carolina, South Dakota, Utah, Wisconsin, Wyoming, the 

Arizona Corporation Commission, and the North Carolina Department of Environmental Quality, also filed their 

motion to stay the final Section 111(d) rule under the Clean Air Act.  Such a stay would put implementation of the 

rule on hold until the court decides on its legality. 

 

On January 26, 2016, twenty-nine states requested that the U.S. Supreme Court stay implementation on the final 

GHG Clean Power Plan or CPP (80 Fed. Reg. 64662 – Oct. 23, 2015), pending judicial review of the rule.  On 

February 9, 2016, the Supreme Court granted the stay of the Clean Power Plan pending judicial review of the rule.  

The stay will remain in effect pending Supreme Court Review if such review is sought.  Since the U.S. Supreme 

Court stayed the EPA rulemaking on the Clean Power Plan, that extraordinary action will delay any regulatory 

action.  GRU continues to closely monitor any activities with respect to Climate Change and GHGs. 
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NOTE 15 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  (Continued) 

 

Climate Change (Concluded) 
 

The D.C. Circuit Court issued an order on April 28, 2017, holding the consolidated Clean Power Plan cases in 

abeyance for 60 days.  The D.C. Circuit Court is requiring the EPA to file status reports concerning its ongoing 

regulatory deliberations at 30 days intervals.  The court also asked the parties to file supplemental briefs by May 15, 

2017, addressing whether the judicial process should be ended and the matter should be remanded to the EPA. 

 

On August 10, 2017, the United States Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit issued an order holding the challenges 

to the GHG NSPS in abeyance “pending further order of the court.”  The order also directs the EPA to file status 

reports at 90-day intervals beginning October 27, 2017. 

 

On October 10, 2017, the EPA Administrator signed a rule proposing the repeal of the CPP and on October 16, 

2017, the proposed repeal of the CPP was published in the Federal Register.  On November 2, 2017, a hearing was 

announced for November 28 and 29, 2017, in West Virginia.  

 

On January 11, 2018, the comment period was extended to April 26, 2018, and three listening sessions were 

announced for February and March in Missouri, California and Wyoming. 

 

With respect to a replacement rule, the Advance Notice of Proposed Rulemaking for the CPP replacement was 

published on December 28, 2017.  The Whitehouse OMB received the EPA’s proposal to replace the CPP on July 9, 

2018.  Then on August 21, 2018, EPA proposed the Affordable Clean Energy (ACE) plan as a replacement to the 

CPP.  It is currently under review. 

 

Coal Combustion Products 

 

The EPA published a final rule (40 CFR 257), effective October 14, 2015, to regulate the disposal of coal 

combustion residuals (CCR) as solid waste under subtitle D of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act 

(RCRA).  The rule includes national minimum criteria for existing and new CCR landfills and existing and new 

CCR surface impoundments.  GRU is subject to the requirements of the promulgated rule that are applicable to CCR 

ponds and landfill at Deerhaven. 

 

On May 1, 2017, the EPA Administrator sent a letter informing states that the EPA is working on guidance for 

implementing state permitting programs that allow flexibility in individual permits to manage the safe disposal of 

coal combustion residuals, known as CCR or “coal ash.”  The EPA expects that its new guidance will allow for the 

safe disposal and continued beneficial use of coal ash, while enabling states to decide what works best for their 

environment.  GRU, through the Florida Electric Power Coordinating Group, made contact with FDEP’s Tim Bahr 

on May 2, 2017, and he confirmed that the EPA shared some draft CCR permit program materials (draft FAQs, draft 

checklist, etc.).  The FDEP is planning to discuss that internally.  The EPA has finished drafting the guidance 

document that is intended to assist States in ensuring that their permit program applications are complete.  This 

guidance has been published in the Federal Register and GRU continues to closely follow developments to CCR 

regulations. 

 

FCG has requested FDEP to apply to EPA for program approval through FDEP’s incorporation by reference of the 

federal CCR Rule, in the Department’s rules, which may include Florida specific provisions. 
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NOTE 15 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  (Continued) 

 

Storage Tanks 

 

GRU is required to demonstrate financial responsibility for the costs of corrective actions and compensation of 

third-parties for bodily injury and property damage arising from releases of petroleum products and hazardous 

substances from storage tank systems.  GRU has eleven fuel oil storage tanks.  The South Energy Center has two 

underground distillate (No. 2) oil tanks; the JRK Station has four above-ground distillate oil tanks, two of which are 

empty and out of service,  and two above-ground No. 6 oil tanks which are also empty and out of service.  DH has 

one above-ground distillate and two above-ground No. 6 oil tanks one of which is out of service.   

 

All of GRU’s fuel storage tanks have secondary containment and/or interstitial monitoring and the Utility is insured 

for the requisite amounts. 

 

Remediation Sites 

 

Several site investigations have been completed at the JRK Station, most recently in 2011.  According to previous 

assessments, the horizontal extent of impacted soils extends from the northern containment wall of the above-ground 

storage tanks (ASTs) to the wastewater filter beds and from the old plant building to Sweetwater Branch Creek.  The 

results of the most recent soil assessment document the presence of Benzo(a)pyrene in one soil sample at a 

concentration greater than its default commercial/industrial direct exposure based soil cleanup target levels (SCTLs).  

Four of the soil samples contained Benzo(a)pyrene equivalents at concentrations greater than its default 

commercial/industrial direct exposure based SCTLs.  In addition, two of the soil samples contained total recoverable 

petroleum hydrocarbons (TRPH) at concentrations greater than its default commercial/industrial direct exposure 

based SCTLs. 

 

In the Site-Wide Monitoring Report dated March 24, 2011, measurable free product was detected in four wells.  An 

inspection in April 2013 showed that groundwater contains four of the polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) 

(Benzo(a)anthracene, Benzo(a)pyrene, Benzo(b)fluoranthene, and Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene) at concentrations greater 

than their groundwater cleanup target levels (GCTLs).  With the exception of Benzo(a)pyrene, the concentration of 

the remainder of these parameters did not exceed their Natural Attenuation Default Concentrations.  The 

groundwater quality data reported in the 2011 Site-Wide Groundwater Monitoring Report documents that 

groundwater quality meets applicable GCTLs at the locations sampled.  It is likely that groundwater quality impacts 

exist in the area where residual number 6 Fuel Oil is present as a non-aqueous phase liquid. 

 

Following the submittal of the August 2013 No Further Action Proposal, the Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection (FDEP) prepared comments regarding the No Further Action Proposal and provided them to GRU in a 

letter dated January 10, 2014.  In August of 2014 GRU provided responses to the FDEP’s January 2014 comment 

letter.  In March of 2016 an attempt was made to meet with the FDEP, but a time was not set up for the meeting.  

The delay in responding to GRU’s comments was due in part to the FDEP waiting on resolution of the request to use 

an active hydraulic containment system as an engineering control.  Ultimately, the FDEP rejected the use of the 

active containment system as an engineering control.  On April 17, 2017, the FDEP provided comments on GRU’s 

August 2014 response to the FDEP January 2014 comment letter.   

 

The FDEP requested further assessment of the extent of No. 6 fuel oil in the subsurface.  GRU’s response proposed 

additional soil investigation to assess the extent of No. 6 fuel oil; both as a non-aqueous phase liquid and as stained 

soils.  GRU also proposed temporarily shutting down the groundwater recovery system and evaluating whether free 

product returns to the wells.  This information will be used to evaluate what actions will be needed to recover free 

product, if any is detected.   
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NOTE 15 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  (Continued) 

 

Water Use Restrictions 

 

Pursuant to Florida law, a water management district in Florida may mandate restrictions on water use for non-

essential purposes when it determines such restrictions are necessary.  The restrictions may either be temporary or 

permanent.  The St. Johns River Water Management District (SJRWMD) has mandated permanent district-wide 

restrictions on residential and commercial landscape irrigation.  The restrictions limit irrigation to no more than two 

days per week during Daylight Savings Time, and one day per week during Eastern Standard Time.  The restrictions 

apply to centralized potable water as provided by the Utility as well as private wells.  All irrigation between the 

hours of 10:00 a.m. and 4:00 p.m. is prohibited. 

 

In addition, in April 2010, the County adopted, and the City subsequently opted into, an Irrigation Ordinance that 

codified the above-referenced water restrictions which promote and encourage water conservation.  County 

personnel enforce this ordinance, which further assists in reducing water use and thereby extending the Utility’s 

water supply. 

 

The SJRWMD and the Suwannee River Water Management District (SRWMD) each have promulgated regulations 

referred to as “Year-Round Water Conservation Measures”, for the purpose of increasing long-term water use 

efficiency through regulatory means.  In addition, the SJRWMD and the SRWMD each have promulgated 

regulations referred to as a “Water Shortage Plan”, for the purpose of allocating and conserving the water resource 

during periods of water shortage and maintaining a uniform approach towards water use restrictions.  Each Water 

Shortage Plan sets forth the framework for imposing restrictions on water use for non-essential purposes when 

deemed necessary by the applicable water management district.   

 

On August 7, 2012, in order to assist the SJRWMD and the SRWMD in the implementation and enforcement of 

such Water Conservation Measures and such Water Shortage Plans, the Board of County Commissioners of Alachua 

County enacted an ordinance creating year-round water conservation measures and water shortage regulations (the 

“County Water Use Ordinance”), thereby making such Water Conservation Measures and such Water Shortage 

Plans applicable to the unincorporated areas of the County.  On December 20, 2012, the City Commission adopted a 

resolution to opt into the County’s year-round water conservation measures and water shortage regulations 

ordinances in order to give the Alachua County Environmental Protection Department the authority to enforce water 

shortage orders and water shortage emergencies within the City. 

 

Manufactured Gas Plant 

 

Gainesville’s natural gas system originally distributed blue water gas, which was produced in town by gasification 

of coal using distillate oil.  Although manufactured gas was replaced by pipeline gas in the mid-1950’s, coal 

residuals and spilt fuel contaminated soils remain on and adjacent to the manufactured gas plant (MGP) site.  When 

the natural gas system was purchased, GRU assumed responsibility for the investigation and remediation of 

environmental impacts related to the operation of the former MGP.  GRU has pursued recovery for the MGP from 

past insurance policies and, to date, has recovered $2,204,402 from such policies.  GRU received final approval of 

its Remedial Action Plan which included the excavation and landfilling of impacted soils.  This plan was 

implemented pursuant to a Brownfield Site Rehabilitation Agreement with the State.  Following remediation, the 

property has been redeveloped by the City as a park with storm-water ponds, nature trails, and recreational space, all 

of which were considered in the remediation plan’s design.  The duration of the groundwater monitoring program is 

unknown, and that timeframe is open to the results of the sampling data. 

 

Based upon GRU’s analysis of the cost to clean up this site, GRU has accrued a liability to reflect the costs 

associated with the cleanup effort.  During fiscal year 2018, expenditures which reduced the liability balance were 

$1,255,275.  The reserve balance at September 30, 2018 was $641,000. 
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NOTE 15 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  (Concluded) 

 

Manufactured Gas Plant (Concluded) 

 

GRU is recovering the costs of this cleanup through customer charges.  A regulatory asset was established for the 

recovery of remediation costs from customers.  Customer billings were $1,261,255 as of September 30, 2018.  The 

regulatory asset balance was $11,741,332 as of September 30, 2018. 

 

Although some uncertainties associated with environmental assessment and remediation activities remain, GRU 

believes that the current provision for such costs is adequate and additional costs, if any, will not have an adverse 

material effect on GRU’s financial position, results of operations, or liquidity. 

 

GREC 

 

On March 10, 2016, GREC filed arbitration (American Arbitration Association Case No. 01-16-0000-8157) against 

the City doing business as Gainesville Regional Utilities, initially challenging GRU’s withholding payment of 

invoiced amounts pursuant to the long-term power purchase agreement between GRU and GREC.  Since 

January 31, 2017, $8,514,656 (including accrued interest) had been withheld by GRU based on disputed amounts 

actually invoiced by GREC.  In addition, GREC had alleged claims in contract and tort that it asserts could result in 

aggregate damages to GREC of over $100 million.  Likewise, GRU had alleged claims in contract that could result 

in aggregate damages to GRU of over $100 million.  GRU entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with 

GREC on April 24, 2017, to explore the possible purchase of the biomass plant, the cancellation of the PPA and the 

resolution of the arbitration case.  On September 12, 2017, GRU and GREC executed the APA which defined the 

purchase of the biomass plant, the termination of the PPA and the resolution of the arbitration case.  Pursuant to the 

terms of the APA, GRU purchased the biomass plant on November 7, 2017. 

 

Operating Leases 
GRU leases various equipment, facilities and property under operating leases that are cancelable only under certain 

circumstances.  Rental costs under operating leases for the years ended September 30, 2018 was $125,607. 

 

Future minimum rental payments for various operating leases are:  

 

 

Year Ending Future Minimum

September 30, Rental Payments

2019 52,538$                         

2020 26,639                           

2021 17,507                           

2022 8,849                             

2023 8,849                             

2024-2028 30,250                           

2029-2033 30,250                           

2034-2038 30,250                           

2039-2043 30,250                           

2044-2046 18,150                           

253,532$                       
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NOTE 16 - LEASE REVENUE 

 

GRU leases generators, land and communication tower antenna space among other items.  Future minimum rental 

revenue for various operating leases are as follows:  

 

 
 

NOTE 17 – INVESTMENT IN THE ENERGY AUTHORITY   

 

GRU has an equity investment in The Energy Authority (TEA), a power marketing corporation comprised of eight 

municipal utilities as of September 30, 2018:  MEAG Power, JEA (Florida), South Carolina Public Service 

Authority, Nebraska Public Power District, GRU, City Utilities of Springfield (Missouri), Public Utility District 

No. 1 of Cowlitz County (Washington), and American Municipal Power, Inc. (Ohio).  TEA provides energy 

products and resource management services to equity members and non-members and allocates transaction savings 

and operating expenses to equity members pursuant to Settlement Procedures under the Operating Agreement. 

 

In the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position, GRU’s sales to and purchases from TEA are 

recorded in sales and service charges and operations and maintenance expenses, respectively.  For the year ended 

September 30, 2018, sales to TEA totaled $2,522,414 and purchases from TEA totaled $7,843,994.  GRU’s equity 

interest was 5.6% for fiscal year 2018, and accounted for using the equity method of accounting.  As of 

September 30, 2018, GRU’s investment in TEA was $2,257,295 million. 

 

Through a combination of agreements, GRU guaranteed credit received by TEA for $21,742,857 million as of 

September 30, 2018.  TEA evaluates its credit needs periodically and requests equity members to adjust their 

guarantees accordingly.  The guarantee agreements are intended to provide credit support for TEA when entering 

into transactions on behalf of equity members.  Such guarantees are within the scope of GASB Statement No. 70, 

Accounting and Financial Reporting for Nonexchange Financial Guarantees, and would require the equity members 

to make payments to TEA’s counterparties if TEA failed to deliver energy, capacity or natural gas as required by 

contract, or if TEA failed to make payment for the purchases of such commodities.  If guarantee payments are 

required, GRU has rights with other equity members that such payments be apportioned based on certain criteria.  

 

The guarantees generally have indefinite terms; however, GRU can terminate its guarantee obligations by providing 

notice to counterparties and others, as required by the agreements.  Such terminations would not pertain to any 

transactions TEA entered into prior to notice being given.  As of September 30, 2018, GRU had not recorded a 

liability related to these guarantees.   

Year Ending Future Minimum

September 30, Rental Payments

2019 1,752,200$                    

2020 1,549,432                      

2021 1,457,456                      

2022 1,293,285                      

2023 903,207                         

2024-2028 3,572,765                      

2029-2033 1,842,893                      

Thereafter 96,411                           

12,467,649$                  
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NOTE 17 – INVESTMENT IN THE ENERGY AUTHORITY  (Concluded) 

 

The table below contains unaudited condensed financial information for TEA for the period ended September 30, 

2018.  

 

 
As of September 30, 2018, GRU’s accounts receivable due from TEA totaled approximately $483,286.  TEA issues 

stand-alone audited financial statements on a calendar year basis which may be obtained by writing to 76 South 

Laura Street; Suite 1500; Jacksonville, Florida 32202. 

 

NOTE 18 – CONDUIT DEBT  

 

The City has previously issued Industrial Development Revenue Bonds to provide financial assistance to private-

sector entities for the acquisition and construction of industrial facilities deemed to be in the public interest.  These 

bonds are secured by the financed property and are payable solely by the private-sector entity served by the bond 

issuance.  As of September 30, 2018, there were two Industrial Revenue Bonds outstanding, with an aggregate 

principal amount of $5,000,000. 

 

During the year, the City issued Continuing Care Retirement Community Revenue Refunding Notes 2017A and 

2017B for the purpose of providing funds to refinance certain obligations of Oak Hammock at the University of 

Florida, Inc. (the Borrower). These Notes are payable solely from revenues of the Borrower. As of September 30, 

2018, the aggregate principal amount remaining of the two notes is $35,000,000. 

 

There is no obligation on the part of the City, County, State, or any political subdivision for repayment of the bonds 

or notes.  Accordingly, the conduit debt is not reported as liabilities in the accompanying financial statements.   

Condensed Statement of Operations (In Thousands)

Total revenue  $               1,334,738 

Total cost of sales and expense                 (1,252,868)

Operating income                        81,870 

Nonoperating income                             105 

Change in net position                        81,975 

Net position, beginning of period                        36,417 

Capital contributions                                 6 

Member distributions                      (77,767)

Net position, end of period  $                    40,631 

Condensed Balance Sheet

Assets:

Current assets  $                  165,904 

Noncurrent assets                        21,510 

Total assets                      187,414 

Liabilities:

Current liabilities                      146,768 

Noncurrent liabilities                               15 

Total liabilities                      146,783 

Total net position                        40,631 

Total liabilities and net position  $                  187,414 
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NOTE 19 – TAX ABATEMENTS  
 

The City’s Community Redevelopment Agency (CRA) a public body corporate and politic, created pursuant to Part 

III of Chapter 163, Florida Statutes has entered into Development Agreements with various developers to redevelop 

properties within the four CRA districts.  The Development Agreements are agreements between the CRA and a 

developer to construct multi-family units with the potential of commercial space in the building being constructed. 

In return, the City agrees to annually reimburse the developer a Tax Increment Recapture based on the increase of 

assessed value of the development as determined by the Alachua County Property Appraiser. 
 

For fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, the City paid the following Tax Increment Recapture amounts for the 

following projects: 

 

■ $160,613 of Tax Increment Fund Incentive Reimbursement for Union Street Station, a multi-family and 

commercial complex located in downtown Gainesville. 

■ $141,259 of Tax Increment Fund Incentive Reimbursement for a façade and streetscape project located in the 

CRA’s 5th Avenue/Pleasant Street District. 

 

NOTE 20 – RESTATEMENTS  
 

The City restated the beginning net position as a result of two changes in accounting principles.  The restatement 

resulted from the implementation of GASB No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment 

Benefits Other Than Pensions, as discussed in Note 1.  The second adjustment was for the change in measurement 

dates of the Consolidated Plan in order to align the measurement dates used for the various plans sponsored by the 

City.  The restatements of beginning net position are summarized as follows:  

 

 
NOTE 21 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

Air Quality Control—GRU experienced a collapse of the Turbosorp Air Quality Control System at the Deerhaven 

Unit 2 generation facility during fiscal year 2016.  This failure resulted in a loss of $5,374,255 recorded as a 

receivable and regulatory asset during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018.  GRU filed an insurance claim after 

the incident and received a payment of $3,931,250 on December 6, 2018, from one insurance carrier that will be 

applied against the receivable.  On December 28, 2018, GRU received an additional payment of $318,750 from 

another insurance carrier that will be applied against the regulatory asset. 

 

Utility System Revenue Bonds—On February 21, 2019, the City Commission approved a supplemental utilities 

system revenue bond resolution authorizing the issuance of the 2019 Series A and B bonds.  Approximately $160 

million in proceeds from Series A will be used to fund capital projects in 2019 and 2020, replenish Utility Plant 

Improvement Fund reserves, and convert GRU’s currently outstanding tax-exempt short-term commercial paper to 

long-term bonds.  Approximately $26.7 million in proceeds from Series B will be used to fund GRUCom capital 

projects over the next several years, convert outstanding taxable commercial paper to long-term bonds, and refund 

the outstanding 2005 Series B bonds. 

Total Nonmajor Internal

Governmental Business-Type Government- Enterprise Service

Activities Activities wide Funds Funds

Net position - beginning of

year, as previously reported 150,691,771$  536,843,037$  687,534,808$  86,632,515$     28,097,241$   

Restatement:

Net pension liability (5,191,767)       -                       (5,191,767)      -                       -                      

Net OPEB liability (20,034,824)     (552,024)          (20,586,848)    (552,024)          (93,364)           

Total Restatement (25,226,591)     (552,024)          (25,778,615)    (552,024)          (93,364)           

Net position - beginning

of year, as restated 125,465,180$  536,291,013$  661,756,193$  86,080,491$     28,003,877$   
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